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2.

With more than 660 properties in over 20 countries, 

Gazit-Globe is a leading global real estate company. Our 

Group owns and operates assets valued at approximately 

US$18 billion, representing a gross leasable area of more than 

6.8 million square meters and a gross annualized income of 

approximately US$1.75 billion.

Our primary objective is to create value through long-term 

maximization of cash flow and capital appreciation, and we are 

committed to increasing our dividends over time. We do this 

through a differentiating focus on recession-resilient, necessity-

driven asset class, which has demonstrated an ability to generate 

strong and sustainable cash flow through different economic 

cycles. To this end, we engage in the acquisition, development 

and management of income-producing supermarket-anchored 

shopping centers in growing, high-density urban markets in 

North America, Europe, Israel and Brazil. We are also active in 

the North American healthcare real estate sector. With the goal 

of achieving a leading position in each of our markets, we work 

to expand our presence in the countries in which we operate 

while also expanding into new markets.

  

Gazit-Globe (TASE: GLOB) is listed on the Tel Aviv Stock 

Exchange. The company owns and operates its business globally 

through publicly-traded and privately-held subsidiaries. Our 

publicly-traded subsidiaries are traded on several international 

stock exchanges, including the New York Stock Exchange, 

the Toronto Stock Exchange, the Helsinki Stock Exchange, 

EuroNext Amsterdam and the Vienna Stock Exchange.

What is
Gazit-Globe 
all about?

1. Kristiine Shopping Center, Tallinn, Estonia
2. Kristiine Shopping Center, Tallinn, Estonia
3. Sheridan Plaza, Hollywood, Florida
4. Tondo, Hamubrg, Germany

3. 4.
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AAA

Rental Income*
(NIS millions) 

NOI Diversification 
(Proportionate Consolidation)

Europe 33%
Canada 33%
USA 27% 
Israel 6%
Brazil 1%

NOI Breakdown 
by Credit Rating

AAA Countries 86%
Other Investment Grade Countries 9%
Below Investment Grade Countries 5%

Consistent Dividend Growth for Over a Decade
(NIS per share) 

Key Figures
(NIS million)

Steady Growth
We Are All About  

NOI*
(NIS millions) 

Gross Leasable 
Area (GLA)
(Millions sqm)
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10.1%
CAGR

9.8%
CAGR

9.1%
CAGR

2011 2010 2009 2008

Total Assets 56,630 52,550 51,504 44,730

Investment Properties 51,801 47,563 45,883 38,297

Interest Bearing Liabilities 35,310 32,509 33,632 29,607

Shareholder’s Equity Including Minority 16,301 15,169 13,266 11,106

Shareholder’s Equity 6,043 5,915 5,189 3,334

Net Debt to Total Assets 61.2% 60.7% 63.7% 64.9%

As of March 31 As of December 31 

Rental Income*
(NIS millions) 

Consistent Dividend Growth for Over a Decade
(NIS per share) 
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1Visionary management
Focused strategy
Local insight
Realizing potential
Critical mass
Global presence
Capital resources 
Corporate citizenship 

Our experience over the past two decades has enabled us to 

refine our formula for generating strong, steady returns from 

our real estate activities throughout the world, in both good 

times and bad. Adherence to this formula has brought us 

accomplishments in over 20 countries so far, and we intend to 

continue following it as we expand into new markets.

Our formula is based on the concept that income-producing 

real estate success depends on well-located, supermarket-

anchored shopping centers, best-in-class human capital and 

proactive management – a formula which we believe can be 

replicated and scaled.

Proven Formula

1.

We Are All About  

1.

2.

1. Iso Omena, Finland
2. Galleria Kasztanowa, Pila, Poland
3. G Kfar-Saba, Israel
4. Veranda Shoppes, Plantation, Florida

3.

4.
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66
0

Vision in Action - performance during the 
2008-2009 global financial crisis:

The Group’s management acted decisively during the global 

financial crisis of 2008-2009 to take advantage of a number of 

extraordinary opportunities, investing more than US$3.5 billion 

directly and indirectly in acquisition, development, redevelopment 

and bond buy-backs. As markets stabilized, the Group attained 

a stronger competitive position with a broader portfolio.  

Our management is focused on:

 Identifying and motivating talented local managers

 Identifying opportunities

 Executing transactions 

 Developing long-term relationships with premier tenants

 Forming and managing local partnerships 

 Creating and actualizing innovative concepts

 Allocating capital efficiently 

To achieve our goals, we rely on an experienced and 

visionary management team. With decades of accumulated 

experience and know-how, our management team uses its 

deep understanding of the real estate business to guide its 

actualization of the Gazit-Globe’s strategy in each region. Our 

management team has demonstrated its ability to continually 

grow our business and build shareholder value. 

More than 660 properties 
in over 20 countries

Visionary Management

Spotting Opportunities            Making Calculated Decisions             Creating Value

1.

2.

3. 4.

We Are All About  

1. Promenada Shopping Center, Warsaw, Poland
2. Carrefour St-Hubert, Quebec
3. Westchester Medical Campus, White Plains, New York
4. Galleria Copernicus, Warsaw, Poland
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6.

8M6.8 Million m2 of GLA 
(Gross Leasable Area)

Target geographical markets

 High-density, urban growth regions with high 

barriers of entry: by focusing on densely populated, 

supply-constrained areas, we are able to maintain 

high-occupancy levels while increasing rent over 

time and attracting shoppers to our properties.  

 Countries with strong investment-grade credit rating: 

by focusing on AAA-rated countries, we reduce our 

exposure to macro-economic market risks while reducing 

the cost of capital.

Recession-resilient assets:

Modern urban dwellers throughout the world demonstrate 

remarkably similar shopping patterns, including frequent visits 

to supermarkets, pharmacies, banks, and other suppliers 

of basic products and services. By focusing on well-located, 

quality assets anchored by necessity-driven tenants, we achieve 

strong cash flow in all types of economic cycles.

Gazit-Globe’s strategy is aimed at generating 
strong, consistent and growing cash-flow 
irrespective of market macro-economic 
conditions.

Focused Strategy

4.3.

1.

We Are All About  

2.

1. 222 Sutter Street, San Francisco, CA
2. Market Street, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
3. Hamilton Ridge, Georgia, US
4. Cedarbrae Mall, Scraborough, Ontario

High-Density Urban Regions                The Right LocationsNecessity-Driven Properties
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Place Portobello, Montreal, Canada
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$1.75
trends, our experienced local management teams in each of 

these markets proactively manage our properties to meet the 

needs of our tenants. They also work with our executive team 

to bring both local and global perspectives to the development, 

repositioning and management of our properties.

As we expand globally, we focus on retaining our local edge.  

 

As such, our aim is to blend the best of local and global. We 

have a leading presence, deep leasing expertise and strong 

tenant relationships in each of our primary markets. Capitalizing 

on their extensive knowledge of local market and consumer 

Leveraging Best PracticesThink Global. Act Local                Local Management Teams  

Local Insight

1. 2.

3.

$1.75 billion annual 
rental income

We Are All About  

1. Carrefour St-Hubert, Quebec
2. Targowek, Warsaw, Poland 
3. Extra Itaim, San Paolo, Brazil

M
ai

n 
Pa

ge



14 Gazit-Globe Ltd. Financial Report Q1/2011 Gazit-Globe Ltd. Financial Report Q1/2011 15

14,000+

After investing in the right property, we apply our management 

skills and resources to the realization of each asset’s full 

potential, thereby driving its long-term growth in income and 

cash flow. Our efforts are guided by the best practices that 

we have developed regarding relations with local partners, 

authorities, financial institutions, tenants and the community.   

On a day-to-day basis, we engage in proactive management, 

including efforts ranging from close management 

of individual tenant relationships to capital-intensive 

expansion, redevelopment and other activities. In Q1/2011, 

our investment in new properties, development and 

redevelopment activities totaled approximately NIS 3.5 

billion (~ US$ 1 billion).

14,000+ lease agreements 
with global tenants

Acquisition, Development, Redevelopment

Proactive Asset Management

Best Practices

Realizing Potential

Region Number
of Assets

Total Investment 
as of March 31, 
2011
(NIS millions)

Cost to Complete 
(NIS millions)

North America

Europe

Israel

Total

26

11

2

39

466

730

156

1,352

985

581

50

1,616

Development & Redevelopment

We Are All About  

1. Lippulaiva Shopping Center, Finland
2. Mandarinas, Vilnius, Lithuania
3. Westney Heights Plaza, Ontario 
4. Reduta, Warsaw, Poland
5. Olde Oakville Market Place, Ontario

1.

2.

1.

3. 4. 5.
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93.9%

3.

With the goal of securing significant strategic and operating 

advantages, we seek to build a leading position in each country 

in which we operate through a disciplined, proactive strategy 

using our significant experience and local market expertise. 

We seek to establish critical mass in each of our markets as 

a means for generating economics of scale, and for achieving 

the marketing and operational synergies that drive profitability.  

Leveraging our leading market positions and the extensive 

market knowledge of our local management teams, we 

gain access to attractive acquisition, development and 

redevelopment opportunities while mitigating the associated 

risks. In parallel, our senior management provides our local 

management teams with strategic direction for the proactive 

management of our business. This approach enables us to 

better understand the needs of our regional and national 

tenants and to anticipate trends on a timely basis.   

 

Over 6.8 Million m2 GLA          More than 660 Properties 

                                                                                14,000+ Lease Agreements

Critical Mass

3.

4.

93.9% average occupancy rate

We Are All About  

1. Westbury Plaza, New York
2. Governors Town Square, Georgia, US
3. Carrefour du Plateau, Quebec
4. Galeria Biala, Bialystok, Poland

2.

1.
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21%21% average total annual return to 
our shareholders from 2000 to 2010

EUROPE

Citycon is a publicly-traded company that 

owns, develops and operates shopping centers 

and commercial properties primarily anchored 

by supermarkets. Citycon is the market leader in 

Finland, with a strong position in Sweden and a 

firm foothold in the Baltic countries. 

Atrium European Real Estate is a publicly-

traded company that specializes in the 

acquisition, development and management 

of shopping centers in Central and Eastern 

Europe.

Gazit Germany is a privately-held company 

that is active in the shopping center sector 

in Germany.

ISRAEL 

Gazit-Globe Israel (Development) is a privately-

held company that is active in the acquisition, 

development and management of shopping centers 

in Israel.

BRAZIL

Gazit Brazil is a privately-held company active in 

the acquisition, development and management of 

shopping centers in Brazil.

CANADA

First Capital Realty, a publicly-traded company, 

is Canada’s leading owner, developer and 

operator of supermarket and drugstore-anchored 

neighborhood and community shopping centers 

located predominantly in growing metropolitan 

areas.

Gazit America is a publicly-traded company active 

in the medical office building sector in Canada.

UNITED STATES 

Equity One is a publicly-traded company that 

owns, develops and operates shopping centers  

located in strategic metropolitan areas across 

the United States. These centers are anchored 

by leading supermarkets, pharmacies and retail 

store chains.

ProMed Properties is a privately-held 

subsidiary engaged in the acquisition and 

management of medical office and medical-

research buildings in growing metropolitan areas 

of the United States.

Royal Senior Care  is a privately-held company 

active in the senior housing facilities sector in the 

southeastern United States. 

Global Presence

1.

1. 2.

Countries with a Strong Investment-Grade Credit Rating                 

We Are All About  

management teams, enables us to make accretive acquisitions 

to expand our asset base, both in our existing countries and in 

new ones.

 

The business model that we have developed and implemented 

over the last 20 years, whereby we own and operate our 

properties through our publicly-traded and privately-held 

subsidiaries, has driven substantial and consistent growth. We 

leverage our expertise to grow and improve the operations of 

our subsidiaries, maximize profitability, mitigate risk and create 

value for shareholders.

In two decades, we have grown to become a global company 

owning and operating more than 660 properties throughout 

the world. We focus our investments primarily in developed 

economies with strong investment-grade credit ratings, 

including the United States, Canada, Finland, Sweden, Poland, 

Czech Republic, Israel, Germany and Brazil. We believe that 

our geographic diversity provides us with flexibility in terms of 

capital allocation and improves our resilience to changes in 

economic conditions and the cyclicality of markets, enabling 

us to apply successful ideas and proven market strategies in 

multiple countries. Our global reach, together with our local 

1. G Center Afula, Israel 
2. Rutherford Marketplace, Ontario

High-Growth Markets                         Opportunistic & Strategic Acquisitions
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$US1BApproximatly NIS 3.5 billion (~ $US 1 billion) investment in 
acquisition/development/redevelopment in Q1/2011  

or equity financing on many of these public markets. We believe 

this global access to capital markets, together with our liquidity 

from internally generated cash and available lines of credit, 

lowers our overall cost of capital for strategic transactions, 

and enables us to pursue opportunities efficiently and in 

a timely manner.

As a capital-intensive business, our success is derived, among 

other factors, from our skill in managing capital resources and 

our access to capital from banks, financial institutions and 

public markets. Our securities and the securities of our major 

subsidiaries are traded on six international stock exchanges, 

and we have benefited from the flexibility offered by raising debt 

Financial Strength                            Conservative Fiscal Management             Solid Platform for Growth

Capital Resources
We Are All About  

1. Rocca Al Mare, Tallinn, Estonia
2. Militari Shopping Center, Bucharest, Romania
3. Trio, Lahti, Finland

1.

2. 3.
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1st
 

3.

Developed the 1st shopping centers in Toronto, 
Brazil & the Nordic countries to be awarded 

the LEED Certificate

Sustainable ApproachSocial Responsibility             Environmental Perspective   

Corporate Citizenship

2.

1.

We Are All About  

1. Galeries Normandie, Quebec
2. Rocca Al Mare, Tallinn, Estonia
3. Liljeholmen, Stockholm, Sweden

We are committed to the principles of Social Responsibility 

and to putting them into practice throughout our Group. We 

are guided by an Ethical Business Code of Conduct, and are 

committed to a high standard of transparency and to acting as 

a good corporate citizen. 

As a forward-thinking, global real estate company, we believe 

that protecting the environment makes obvious sense, both 

from an environmental and a long-term economic point of 

view. Our leadership in this area is evidenced through our use 

of innovative green-construction principles and standards in a 

growing number of our projects throughout the world. Our aim 

is to minimize the environmental damage associated with our 

activities, to become more energy efficient and to improve the 

day-to-day environmental footprint of our operations.  

We also care deeply about the communities in which we 

operate. Our commitment in this area is demonstrated by our 

support of numerous charitable organizations and initiatives in 

the areas of health, education, welfare, arts and culture. 

We are proud that these activities have been recognized by the 

Maala Organization for Social Responsibility, Israel’s leading 

advocate for corporate values and citizenship, which has 

awarded our company its highest ‘Platinum’ ranking for the 

past several years. We are also a member of the United Nations 

Global Compact, a strategic policy initiative for businesses that 

are committed to aligning their operations and strategies with 

universally accepted principles in the areas of human rights, 

labor and the environment. 

Platinum

10
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Q1/2011

Corporate Directory

locAtion. locAtion. locAtion.

San Pelegrino Shopping Mall, Caxias do Sul, Brazil

BOARd Of dIReCTORS
Chaim Katzman – Chairman

Arie Mientkavich – Deputy Chairman

dori Segal – Executive Vice Chairman

Chaim Ben dor – Director

Noga Knaz – External Director

Yair Orgler – External Director

Shay Pilpel – Director

eli Shahar – Director

MANAGeMeNT
Roni Soffer – President

eran Ballan – Senior Executive Vice President 

& General Counsel

Gadi Cunia – Senior Executive Vice President 

& Chief Financial Officer

Rami Vaisenberger - Vice President & Controller 

Varda Zuntz – Member of the Executive Committee 

& Company Secretary

exTeRNAl AUdITORS
Ernst & Young - Kost, Forer, Gabbay & Kasierer, 

3 Aminadav Street, Tel-Aviv Israel
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E-mail: IR@gazitgroup.com

Tel: +972 3 694 8000

Text: FisherKahn Financial Communication      Concept & Design: www.portnov-mishan.com

The information contained in this folder is not, and should not be viewed as, a description of Gazit-Globe Ltd. (the “Company”) or its business, and is not intended to  
form the basis of any investment decision with respect to the Company’s securities. The information contained in this folder does not constitute a prospectus or any other offering document, nor 
does it constitute or form part of any invitation or offer to purchase, sell or subscribe for, or any solicitation of any such offer to purchase, sell or subscribe for, any securities of the Company nor shall 
such information be relied on in connection with any action relating to the securities of the Company.

No reliance may be placed, for any purposes whatsoever, on the information contained in this folder or on its completeness and it should not be considered a recommendation by the Company or any 
anyone acting on its behalf (such as any of its directors, partners, officers, employees, advisers or any other persons) in relation to any transaction relating to its securities. No representation or warranty 
is given by or on behalf of the Company or anyone acting on its behalf (such as any of its directors, partners, officers, employees, advisers or any other persons) as to the accuracy, fairness or sufficiency 
of the information contained in this folder. No liability is accepted for any errors, omissions or inaccuracies in such information. 

Certain statements in the information contained in this folder are forward-looking statements. By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions which 
could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward looking statements. These include, among other factors, changing business or 
other market conditions and anticipated or assumed future prospects. Forward-looking statements contained in this folder regarding past trends or activities should not be taken as a representation 
that such trends or activities will continue in the future. The Company does not undertake any obligation to update or revise any information set forth herein (including any forward-looking statements) 
whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 
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GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. 
 

Directors’ Report to the Shareholders 

For the period ended March 31, 2011 

 

The Board of Directors of Gazit-Globe Ltd. (“the Company”) is pleased to present the financial 

statements of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries for the period ended March 31, 2011. 

The financial statements as of March 31, 2011 and for the three months ended on that date have been 

restated as the result of correcting an error in the financial statements of a subsidiary, for details see note 

2.d of the financial statements. 

  

1. General  

A. Introduction 

The Company through its consolidated subsidiaries, including jointly controlled companies
1
 

(collectively: “the Group”), is the owner, operator and developer of income-producing properties in 

North America, Europe, Israel and Brazil and focuses mainly on the supermarket-anchored shopping 

centers sector.  In addition, the Group operates in the medical office buildings sector in North America, 

the senior housing facilities sector in the U.S., as well as in development and construction of real estate 

projects in Israel and Eastern Europe.  Furthermore, the Group continues to seek and realize business 

opportunities by acquiring properties and/or companies that operate within its core business or similar 

fields, both in regions where it currently operates and also in new regions.  

The Company’s policy, as expressed over the years, is to focus on growing its cash flows through the 

proactive management of its properties.  Company management believes that the long-term ownership 

of property, together with the implementation of this policy, result in the creation of added value for  

shareholders.  

 

B. Properties  

As of March 31, 2011, the Group owns and manages 663 properties, as follows: 

� 598 shopping centers of various sizes 

� 14 shopping centers under development  

� 15 senior housing facilities (encompassing 1,660 units)  

� 20 medical office buildings  

� 16 other properties  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1
  Reference to consolidated subsidiaries includes, unless stated otherwise, both companies that are fully consolidated by 

the Company and also jointly controlled companies that are consolidated by the Company according to the 

proportionate consolidation method.  



  2

The above properties have a gross leasable area (“G.L.A.”) of approximately 6.8 million square meters 

(approximately 73.2 million square feet).  They are recorded in the Company’s books at their fair value 

of NIS 51.8 billion (NIS 62.5 billion, assuming full consolidation
1
) and generate annual rental revenue 

of NIS 5 billion (NIS 6.1 billion, assuming full consolidation
2
) (annual rental revenue data are based on 

the gross annual rentals from the properties owned and on the exchange rates as of March 31, 2011).  

In the USA, the Company operates mainly through Equity One Inc. (“EQY”), a public company listed 

on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE: EQY).  EQY is a REIT (Real Estate Investment Trust) for 

U.S. tax purposes.  As of March 31, 2011 the Company owns, directly and indirectly (including through 

the subsidiary, Gazit America Inc., as described below), 45.3% of EQY (40.5% of the voting rights).  

EQY’s properties are located primarily in growing metropolitan areas in the southeastern United States 

(mainly in Florida and Georgia) and in the northeastern United States, mainly in the area of New York 

and Boston, and also on the West Coast of the USA, mainly in California.  EQY owns 198 income-

producing properties (186 operating shopping centers and 12 other properties), with a G.L.A. of 2.1 

million square meters (approximately 22.6 million square feet), as well as 3 shopping centers under 

development.  

In addition, EQY partly owns, through joint ventures (10%/20%), and manages 13 shopping centers in 

the USA, with a G.L.A. of 177 thousand square meters (approximately 1.9 million square feet).  

The Company is also active in the United States through Royal Senior Care, LLC (“RSC”) and ProMed 

Properties Inc. (“ProMed”).  RSC, in which the Company holds a 60% stake, is active in the senior 

housing facilities sector in the southeastern United States.  As of March 31, 2011, RSC owns and 

manages 15 senior housing facilities (including 2 properties in which RSC has a 20% holding, entitling 

it to management fees and an incentive mechanism), encompassing 1,660 units.  ProMed, which is 

wholly (100%) owned, is engaged in the medical office buildings sector.  ProMed owns 12 medical 

office buildings in the USA, with a G.L.A. of 98 thousand square meters (approximately 1,055 thousand 

square feet). 

In Canada, the Company mainly operates through First Capital Realty Inc. (“FCR”), a public company 

listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX: FCR).  As of March 31, 2011, the Company holds 48.7% 

of FCR.  FCR’s properties are located primarily in growing metropolitan areas in the provinces of 

Ontario, Quebec, Alberta and British Columbia.  FCR owns 160 shopping centers in Canada, with a 

G.L.A. of approximately 2.1 million square meters (approximately 22.6 million square feet) and 3 

shopping centers under development.  

The Company also operates in Canada through Gazit America Inc. (“GAA”), a public company listed 

on the TSX.  As of March 31, 2011, the Company holds 69.5% of GAA.  In addition to its holding of 

14.3 million shares of EQY (13.4% of the share capital; 12.0% of the voting rights), GAA is currently 

active in the medical office buildings sector in Canada and owns 8 medical office buildings, with a 

G.L.A. of 49 thousand square meters (approximately 527 thousand square feet).  

In Brazil, the Company operates through Gazit Brazil Ltda. (“Gazit Brazil”), a subsidiary that is wholly 

owned by the Company.  Gazit Brazil is active in the acquisition, development, and management of 

shopping centers in Brazil.  As of March 31, 2011, Gazit Brazil owns 4 income-producing shopping 

centers with a G.L.A. of 36 thousand square meters (approximately 387 thousand square feet).  

In Northern Europe, the Company operates through Citycon Oyj. (“CTY”), a Finnish public company, 

whose shares are listed on the Helsinki Stock Exchange (OMX).  As of March 31, 2011, the Company 

owns approximately 47.3% of CTY.  CTY is active in Finland, Sweden, Estonia and Lithuania and 

owns 77 shopping centers and retail properties, with a G.L.A. of 0.9 million square meters 

(approximately 10.1 million square feet), and 3 shopping centers under development.  The shopping 

centers and retail properties are leased primarily to supermarket chains and other retail chains.  

                                                           
1
  Assuming the full consolidation of jointly controlled companies, consolidated according to the proportionate 

consolidation method, and the full inclusion of the value of the properties managed by the Group.  
2
  Assuming the full consolidation of jointly controlled companies, consolidated according to the proportionate 

consolidation method, and the full inclusion of the rental revenue from the properties managed by the Group.  
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In Central and Eastern Europe, the Company operates through Atrium European Real Estate Limited 

(“ATR”) – a company incorporated on the island of Jersey and listed on the Vienna Stock Exchange 

and on the Euronext stock exchange, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and proportionately consolidated.  

As of March 31, 2011, the Company owns 30.0% of ATR (the Company has a shareholders’ agreement 

with a fund that is part of the Apollo Global Real Estate Management L.P. Group that holds, to the best 

of the Company’s knowledge, 19.5% of the share capital of ATR).  ATR operates primarily in Poland, 

the Czech Republic and Russia, and to a lesser extent in Slovakia, Hungary, Turkey, Romania and 

Latvia.  It owns 153 income-producing shopping centers, which have a G.L.A. of 1.1 million square 

meters (approximately 12.2 million square feet).  It also has 3 properties under development and 34 

plots of land for future development.  

In addition, the Company also operates in Germany in the shopping centers sector, where it operates 

through wholly owned subsidiaries (“Gazit Germany”).  As of March 31, 2011, Gazit Germany owns 6 

shopping centers with a G.L.A. of approximately 99 thousand square meters (approximately 1.1 million 

square feet) and land for future development.  

In Israel, the Company is active in the acquisition, development and management of shopping centers 

through Gazit-Globe Israel (Development) Ltd. (“Gazit Development”), which is 75% owned.  Gazit 

Development owns 11 income-producing shopping centers in Israel, with a G.L.A. of approximately 

127 thousand square meters (approximately 1.4 million square feet) and has 2 shopping centers under 

development, as well as land for future development.  Gazit Development is also active in Bulgaria and 

Macedonia, through its wholly owned subsidiaries (“Gazit Development (Bulgaria)”), where it owns a 

shopping center with a G.L.A. of approximately 7 thousand square meters (approximately 75 thousand 

square feet) and land reserves for the future development of shopping centers and offices.  

 

In addition, the Company also operates in Israel through Acad Building & Investments Ltd. (“Acad”), 

in which it has a 50% stake and which is consolidated according to the proportionate consolidation 

method.  Acad’s main activity is the holding, directly and indirectly, of 73.8% of the share capital and 

voting rights of U. Dori Group Ltd. (“U. Dori”), a public company that is listed on the Tel Aviv Stock 

Exchange Ltd. (“the Stock Exchange”).  U. Dori is primarily engaged in the field of initiating, 

developing, constructing and selling real estate projects and the management and performance of 

contractual works in the real estate sector in Israel and Eastern Europe.  In addition, U. Dori also owns 

11.25% of the company, Dorad Energy Ltd., which is involved in the construction of a private power 

station in the Ashkelon region of Israel.  In addition, Acad also operates as a contractor in Nigeria and is 

the part-owner of rights in an income-producing property in Israel.  For details of the acquisition of 50% 

of Acad’s shares from the other shareholders of Acad subsequent to the reporting date (thereby bringing 

the Company’s holding to 100%), refer to note 3.b of the financial statements.  
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The Regions (marked - ) where the Company operates are shown on the following map: 

 
 

Other publicly accessible data concerning the Group, including up-to-date presentations, supplemental 

packages with information regarding assets, liabilities and other information (it is hereby clarified that 

such information does not constitute part of this report and is also not included by way of this 

reference), can be found on the Company’s Internet website – www.gazit-globe.com, and the Internet 

websites of the Group’s public companies:  

www.equityone.net  

www.firstcapitalrealty.ca 

www.citycon.fi  

www.aere.com 

www.gazitamerica.ca 
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C. Effects of the Financial Crisis  

The implications of the economic crisis that began in 2007 for the markets in which the Group operates 

led, inter alia, to a certain adverse effect, which is not material, on cash flows from the Group’s 

properties and to an increase in cash flow cap rates; these factors led to a decline in the fair value of the 

Group’s properties in 2008 and 2009.  During 2010 and at the beginning of 2011, it was evident that the 

effects of the crisis that began in 2007 were moderating.  Notwithstanding the above statement, the 

recent period has seen ever-greater volatility and uncertainty in the global financial markets, including 

those markets in which some of the Group companies operate.  

The Company assesses that, as of September 30, 2011 and as of the date of approval of the financial 

statements, the crisis that began in 2007 still has a localized effect on the operating results of certain 

Group companies and has a certain adverse, but not material, effect on the cash flows from the 

properties of those companies.  As of September 30, 2011, the Group is reporting an increase in 

occupancy rates and in average rent rates, and no significant delays in rent payments that could 

materially affect the Group’s rental revenues.  The Company assesses that it will be able to continue 

financing current operations and its investment activities from the Group’s existing financing sources, 

namely the Group’s liquid balances, its cash flows, issuances of equity and debt in the various capital 

markets in which the Group operates, and its unutilized approved credit facilities.  

Notwithstanding the situation described above, a renewed outbreak of global financial crisis, such as we 

have been witnessing in recent months, could affect the Group’s operations, its results and its financial 

position, including in the event of a decline in its operating results and cash flows.  It could also cause a 

decline in the fair value of the investment property, investment property under development and fixed 

assets of the Group.  

The Company’s assessment regarding the impact of the aforementioned events on its operations, 

revenues, profits, debt- and capital-raising ability and financial position is not certain nor is it under the 

Company’s control; it therefore constitutes forward-looking statements.  This assessment is based on 

facts and data with respect to the present position of the Company and its business, the present position 

of its fields of operation and the markets in which it operates, and macro-economic facts and data, all as 

known to the Company on the date of approval of the financial statements.  In addition, the Company’s 

said assessment is based to a material extent on its present expectations and assessment with respect to 

future developments in each of the said parameters, and their inter-relationship.  The Company cannot 

be certain that its assessment will indeed be realized, since it is subject to external influences that cannot 

be assessed in advance and that, as stated above, are not under its control.  
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D. Highlights - First Quarter 2011 (“the Reporting Period”) 

 

(NIS in millions, other than per share data) 

3 months ended  

March 31  

 2011 2010 Change 

Rental income 1,268 1,138 11% 

NOI
1
 828 734 13% 

Proportionately consolidated NOI
2
 446 419 6% 

FFO
3
 89 85 5% 

FFO
3
 per share (NIS) 0.57 0.61 (7%) 

 

Investments in investment property, investment 

property under development and fixed assets 3,453 913 - 

Fair value gain (loss) from investment property and 

investment property under development: 

  Consolidated 

  The Company’s share 

69 

24 

(46) 

(14) 

- 

- 

Net income (loss) attributable to equity holders of the 

Company 
(
*

)
 (17) 218 - 

Diluted earnings (loss) per share (NIS) (0.11) 1.56 - 

Cash flows from operating activities 342 88 - 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 6,043 5,103 - 

Equity per share attributable to equity holders of the 

Company (NIS) 39.1 36.8 - 

Net asset value per share (EPRA NAV
4
) (NIS) 41.1 38.8 - 

EPRA NNNAV
4
 per share (NIS) 36.4 34.1 - 

 

(
*

)
 The loss in the Reporting Period is due primarily to the increase in finance expenses resulting 

mainly from the revaluation of derivatives (mainly of the swap-type), compared to finance income 

from the revaluation of derivatives in the corresponding quarter last year.  

 

• The Group raised a net amount of NIS 304 million in share capital from the public in the Reporting 

Period, compared to NIS 401 million in the corresponding quarter last year.  

• As of March 31, 2011, the Group had liquid balances and unutilized credit facilities available for 

immediate drawdown amounting to NIS 5.3 billion.  

• Debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of investment property at fair 

value) totaled 61.2%, as of March 31, 2011, compared to 63.0% as of March 31, 2010 and 60.7% as 

of December 31, 2010.  

                                                           
1  

NOI – Rental income, net of property operating expenses, other than depreciation expenses.  
2
 For details of the Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of Group companies, in accordance with the holding rate 

in the equity of each of the Group companies, refer to section G.3 below.  
3
  The FFO is presented according to the management approach and in accordance with the EPRA criteria.  For FFO data 

and the adjustments made thereto for the purpose of its calculation according to the management approach, refer to 

section G.2 below.  
4
 Refer to section G.4 below.  
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E. The Company’s Major Holdings are Shown Below (Ownership Percentages are as of March 31, 

2011):  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

69.5% 

13.4% 

31.9% 

60.0% 

100.0% 

30.0% 

100% 

75% 

48.7% 

100% 

50% 

47.3% 

73.8% 

100% 
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F. Breakdown of Net Rental Income (“NOI”)

1
, According to the Company’s Operating Regions: 

 

 

       Q1 2011      Q1 2010 

 

USA, 27%
Brazil, 1%Canada, 

33%

Israel, 6%

Europe, 

33%

USA, 27%
Brazil, 1%Canada, 

33%

Israel, 6%

Europe, 

33%
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1
 As to the Company’s share (“by proportionate consolidation”), refer to section G.3 below.  
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G. Additional Information Concerning the Company’s Assets and Liabilities 

1. The following table presents additional information summarizing the Company’s assets as 

of March 31, 2011, as described above:  

 

 

 

 

Name of 

company 

 

 

 

Type of security/ 

property 

 

 

 

Holding 

(millions) 

 

 

 

Holding rate  

(%) 

 

Book 

value  

(NIS in 

millions) 

Market value 

as of  

March 31, 

2011 

(NIS in millions) 

EQY
1
 Shares (NYSE) 33.9 31.5 1,581 2,217 

FCR Shares (TSX) 80.1 48.7 3,241 4,618 

FCR Convertible  

debentures (TSX) 

 

158.0 

 

- 

 

593 

 

588 

CTY Shares (OMX) 115.8 47.3 1,987 1,851 

CTY Convertible  

debentures (OMX) 

 

42.0 

 

- 

 

224 

 

- 

ATR Shares (Euronext, 

VSX) 

 

111.8 

 

30.0 

 

3,235 

 

2,447 

GAA Shares (TSX) 10.8 69.5 198 267 

U. Dori
2
 Shares (TASE) 42.5 36.9 97 75 

RSC
3
 Income-producing 

property 

 

- 

 

- 

 

490 

 

- 

Income-

producing 

property in 

Europe 

Income-producing 

property 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

979 

 

 

 

- 

Land in 

Europe
4
 

Property under 

development and 

land 

 

 

- 

 

 

- 

 

 

286 

 

 

- 

ProMed Income-producing 

property 

 

- 

 

- 

 

1,202 

 

- 

Brazil Income-producing 

property 

 

- 

 

- 

 

533 

 

- 

Income-

producing 

property in 

Israel
4
 

Income-producing 

property 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

1,598 

 

 

 

- 

Property 

under 

development 

and land in 

Israel
4
 

Property under 

development and 

land 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

- 

 

 

 

 

254 

 

 

 

 

- 

Total  - - 16,498 - 

                                                           
1
  Represents only the Company’s direct interest in EQY (in addition, GAA owns 14.3 million EQY shares).  

2
 Represents linked holding in U. Dori.  

3
 Presented according to the proportionate consolidation method (60%) at the fair value of the properties, in accordance 

with International Accounting Standard No. 16.  
4
  Presented according to the proportionate consolidation method (75%).  
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Below are the Company’s monetary balances (including balances of subsidiaries that are not public 

companies) (“expanded stand-alone basis”) as of March 31, 2011 (NIS in millions):  

 

Debentures  
1
8,429 

Debts to financial institutions 3,876 

Total debentures and debts to financial institutions
(
*

)
 12,305 

Other monetary liabilities 287 

Other liabilities 189 

Total liabilities  12,781 

Less – monetary assets 2,326 

Liabilities, net 10,455 

(
*

)
 Below are the annual repayments of debentures and debts to financial institutions (NIS in 

millions):  

 

Year Debentures Banks Mortgages Total % 

2011 474 6 54 534 4 

2012 525 
2
220 40 785 6 

2013 736 261 263 1,260 10 

2014 269 631 619 1,519 12 

2015 963 
3
958 334 2,255 18 

2016 944 - 14 958 8 

2017 744 - 67 811 7 

2018 1,035 - 280 1,315 11 

2019 1,241 - 8 1,249 11 

2020 641 - 9 650 5 

2021 and after 857 - 112 969 8 

Total  8,429 2,076 1,800 12,305 100 

 

                                                           
1
  Excludes an asset of NIS 1,062 million that represents the fair value of swap-type derivatives, which are presented as 

part of the financial assets.  
2
  The Company is acting to extend the credit facilities for a further period.  

3
 Includes a loan (that was extended in December 2010 for a further period of 5 years) to finance the ATR transaction.  
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2. FFO (EPRA Earnings) 

As is the practice in the USA and in European countries, the Company customarily publishes 

information regarding the results of its operating activities, in addition to and without derogating 

from the income statement prepared according to accounting principles.  In European countries 

where the financial statements are prepared in conformity with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (“IFRS”), it is customary for income-producing property companies to publish their 

“EPRA Earnings”, which is a measure for presenting the operating results of a company that are 

attributable to its equity holders, with this being in line with the position paper of the European 

Public Real Estate Association (“EPRA”), the objective of which is to promote greater 

transparency, uniformity and comparability of the financial information reported by property 

companies.  This measure is not based on generally accepted accounting principles.  

The EPRA Earnings are calculated as the net income attributable to the equity holders of a company 

after neutralizing non-recurring income and expenses (including gains or losses from property 

revaluations), sales of properties, depreciation and amortization and other kinds of gains.  

In the USA, where  financial statements are usually prepared in conformity with U.S. generally 

accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”), it is customary for income-producing property 

companies to publish their FFO results (which is the net income attributable to its equity holders, 

reported after neutralizing income and expenses of a capital nature and with the addition of the 

company’s share in property depreciation and other amortization), in accordance with the position 

paper issued by NAREIT – the U.S.-based National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts.  

The EPRA Earnings are therefore similar in substance to FFO, with adjustments for the results 

reported under IFRS.  

The Company believes that publication of FFO, which is computed according to the directives of 

EPRA, more correctly reflects the operating results of the Company, since the Company’s financial 

statements are prepared in conformity with IFRS.  In addition, publication of FFO provides a better 

basis for the comparison of the Company’s operating results in a particular period to those of 

previous periods and strengthens the uniformity and the comparability of this financial measure to 

that published by other European property companies.  

In addition, pursuant to the investment property guideline issued by the Israel Securities Authority 

in January 2011, the FFO is to be presented in the “Description of the Company’s Business” section 

of the annual report of investment property companies on the basis of the EPRA criteria.  

As clarified in the EPRA and NAREIT position papers, the EPRA Earnings and the FFO measures 

do not represent cash flows from current operations according to accepted accounting principles, nor 

do they reflect the cash held by a company or its ability to distribute that cash, and they are not a 

substitute for the reported net income.  Furthermore, it is also clarified that these measures are not 

part of the data audited by the Company’s independent auditors.  
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The table below presents the calculation of the Company’s FFO, computed according to the 

directives of EPRA, and its FFO per share for the stated periods:  

 

For the 3 months ended 

March 31  

For the year ended 

December 31 

 2011 2010  2010 

 NIS in millions (other than per share data) 

     

Net income  (loss) attributable to equity 

holders of the Company for the period (17) 218   790  

Adjustments:     

Fair value loss (gain) from investment 

property and investment property under 

development, net (69) 46   (1,017) 

Capital gain on sale of investment property 

and investment property under development (1) (17)  (13) 

Impairment of goodwill -  1   42  

Changes in the fair value of derivatives 

measured at fair value through profit and 

loss 88  (173)  (456) 

Adjustments with respect to associates (
*

)
-  1   

(
*

)
-  

Loss from increase in holding rate of investees (
*

)
-  

(
*

)
-   4  

Deferred taxes and current taxes with respect 

to disposal of properties 51  69   494  

Gain from negative goodwill (bargain 

purchase) (**) -  -   -  

Acquisition costs recognized in profit and loss 8  2   21  

Non-controlling interests’ share  in above 

adjustments (**)17  (35)  241  

Nominal FFO  77  112   106  

Additional adjustments:     

CPI and exchange rate linkage differences 34  (76)  77  

Gain (loss) from early redemption of 

debentures (17) (5)  1  

Depreciation and amortization 8  28   69  

Other adjustments
1
 (13) 26   106  

FFO according to the management approach  89  85   359  

Basic and diluted FFO according to the 

management approach per share (in NIS) 0.57  0.61   2.54  

 
 

  (*)   Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

(**)  Restated, see section H. below.  

 

                                                           
1
  Expenses directly related to the income and expense items adjusted against the net income for the purpose of calculating FFO, the 

adjustment of income from the waiver of bonuses by the Chairman of the Board of Directors, expenses and income from exceptional 

legal proceedings not related to the reporting periods and also income and expenses from operations not related to income-producing 

property.  
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3. Additional information is presented below concerning the Company’s share in the income-

producing properties owned by the Group as of March 31, 2011, based on capitalized net operating 

income (“NOI”)
1
 methodology.  The presentation of this information is intended to provide 

additional information, based on methodology that is generally accepted in the regions in which the 

Group operates, which might serve as an additional method in analyzing the value of the Company’s 

properties on the basis of the Company’s financial results for the Reporting Period.  It is emphasized 

that this information in no way represents the Company’s estimate of the present or future value of 

its assets.  

In calculating the NOI, the following assumptions were taken into account:  

a. The NOI for the period for each of the Group companies.  

b. The Company’s proportionate share in the NOI of the Group companies. 

 

 

 For the 3  

months ended 

March 31 

For the 

year ended  

December 31 

 2011 2010 2010 

 NIS in millions 

Rental income 1,268  1,138 4,596  

Property operating expenses, net of 

depreciation (440) (404) (1,538) 

NOI for the period 828  734  3,058  

Less – minority’s share in NOI (382) (315) (1,362) 

NOI for the period – the Group’s 

proportionate share 446  419  1,696  

NOI for the year 2
1,784  

2
1,678  1,696  

 

The sensitivity analyses shown in the table below describe the implied value of the Group’s income-

producing properties using the aforesaid methodology according to the range of different discount 

rates (“cap rates”) generally accepted in the regions in which the Group operates, as of the date of 

the financial statements.  It should be noted that this presentation does not take into account income 

from premises that have not been leased and additional building rights that exist with respect to the 

Group’s income-producing properties.  

 

Value of proportionately consolidated income-producing property according to the NOI for 

the first quarter of 2011: 

 

Cap Rate: 

 

6.50% 

 

7.00% 

 

7.50% 

 

8.00% 

Value of income-producing property 

(NIS in millions)
3
 27,452 25,491 23,792 22,305 

                                                           
1
  NOI – Rental income, net of property operating expenses, other than depreciation expenses.  

2
  NOI for the first quarter multiplied by four. 

3
  NOI divided by the cap rate.  
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New properties and properties under development, which have not yet come on line and which are 

presented at their fair values in the Group’s books (according to the proportionate consolidation 

method) as of March 31, 2011, amounted to NIS 2,180 million.  

The Group’s liabilities, net of monetary assets (according to the proportionate consolidation 

method) as of March 31, 2011, amounted to NIS 20,194 million.  

Rental income, as stated above, does not include the income from premises that have not been 

leased, with an area of 190 thousand square meters (approximately 2.0 million square feet) 

(according to the proportionate consolidation method).  

 

4. Net Asset Value (EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV)  

As is customary in the European countries in which the Group is active, and in line with the EPRA 

position paper, the objective of which is to promote greater transparency, uniformity and 

comparability of the financial information reported by property companies, the Company publishes 

net asset value data (EPRA NAV), which is a measure that reflects the net asset value of the 

Company, with certain adjustments, e.g., the neutralization of the fair value of derivatives (which 

the Company intends to hold until maturity and which are treated as hedging instruments from an 

economic perspective) and deferred tax adjustments with respect to the revaluation of assets to their 

fair value; the Company also publishes EPRA NNNAV data, which is another measure reflecting 

net asset value (EPRA NAV), adjusted for the fair value of financial instruments of the kind 

referred to above and for the fair value of financial liabilities, and also with certain adjustments to 

the provision for deferred taxes.  

The Company considers that presentation of the EPRA NAV and the EPRA NNNAV data enables 

the Company’s results to be compared with those of other European property companies.  At the 

same time, these data do not constitute a valuation of the Company and do not replace the data 

presented in the financial statements; rather, they provide an additional aspect of the Company’s net 

asset value (NAV) in accordance with the recommendations of EPRA.  It is also clarified that these 

data are not data that have been audited by the Company’s auditors.  
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Presented below is the calculation of the EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV:  

 

 

As of 

March 31 

As of 

December 31, 

 2011 2010
(
*

)
 2010 

 NIS in millions 

a. EPRA NAV    

Equity attributable to the equity holders of 

the Company, per the financial 

statements  6,043  5,103  5,915  

Adjustments for neutralization of fair 

value of derivatives  (1,009) (729) (1,081) 

Add – Provision for tax on revaluation of 

investment property to fair value (net 

of minority’s share) 1,310  1,016  1,129  

Net asset value – EPRA NAV 6,344  5,390  5,963  

EPRA NAV per share (in NIS) 41.1  38.8  38.6  

    

b. EPRA NNNAV    

EPRA NAV 6,344  5,390  5,963  

Adjustment for addition of fair value of 

derivatives 1,009  729  1,081  

Adjustments of financial liabilities to fair 

value (815) (672) (1,066) 

Other adjustments to provision for 

deferred taxes
1
 (921) (717) (853) 

“Adjusted” net asset value - EPRA 

NNNAV 5,617  4,730  5,125  

EPRA NNNAV per share (in NIS) 36.4  34.1  33.2  

(
*

)
 Restated in accordance with the new EPRA rules from October 2010.  

 

5. As of March 31, 2011, the Company’s issued share capital comprises 154.4 million shares, each 

with a par value of NIS 1 (excluding treasury shares held by the Company).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
1
 This adjustment does not include a provision for tax with respect to the revaluation of investment property in territories 

where, upon disposing of property, the Company customarily defers the payment of the capital gains tax.  



  16 

H. Restatement 

The financial statements as of  March 31, 2011 and for the three-month period ended on that date have 

been restated as the result of correcting an error in the financial statements of a subsidiary – EQY, in the 

context of a reduction in the gain from bargain purchase against an increase in non-controlling interests.  

The error arose due to a mistake in the calculation of the fair value of the units in the Joint Venture 

allocated to LIH (for further details, refer to the Immediate Report issued by the Company on 

November 3, 2011 (reference no. 2011-01-315402 and also note 3.a of the financial statements).  

  

In addition, following the updating of the measurement of the fair value of the identifiable assets and 

liabilities of CapCo in the measurement period (the “provisional PPA”), as permitted pursuant to the 

provisions of IFRS 3, EQY updated the provisional amounts allocated to the identifiable assets and 

liabilities of CapCo by a net amount of NIS 10 million.   

For details regarding the effect of correcting the error and of updating the provisional PPA, refer to 

notes 2.d and 3.a of the financial statements.  

For the disclosure regarding the assessment of management and the Board of Directors with respect to 

the impact of the restatement on the evaluation of effectiveness of the internal control, and with respect 

to the measures taken in order to prevent a recurrence of errors of this kind, with respect to which the 

financial statements have been restated, refer to the Company’s report pursuant to Regulation 38C of the 

Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.  As assessed by the Company, the 

correction resulting in the restatement has not materially affected the Company’s business and has not 

created an exposure for the Company, such as non-compliance with financial covenants, non-

compliance with criteria for distributions, effects on the compensation of employees, officers and other 

service providers, or other payment obligations arising from the financial performance.  
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2. Explanations of the Board of Directors for the Corporation’s Business Position, its Operating Results, its Equity and its Cash Flows  

2.1 General  

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s investments in the acquisition and development of new properties and in the redevelopment, expansion and 

construction of various existing properties totaled NIS 3,453 million and investments in investees totaled NIS 132 million.  The effect of these 

investments on the operating results of the Group will mainly be reflected during the course of the year, and in 2012 and thereafter.  

A. Property activities  

1) In the Reporting Period, the Group acquired 22 income-producing properties (including through a business combination, refer to sub-section B 

below), with a total G.L.A. of 380 thousand square meters (approximately 4.1 million square feet), and plots of land adjacent to the Group’s 

properties for future development, at a total cost of NIS 3,126 million.  In addition, the Group has developed new properties and redeveloped 

existing properties at a total cost of NIS 327 million.  

2) Principal operational data: 

 

Income- 

producing 

properties 

G.L.A. 

(in thousands 

of square meters) 

Average basic monthly  

rent per square meter 

Change in 

same 

property 
NOI

(
*

)
 

Occupancy rate 

in core properties Debt to 

market 

capitalization
1
 31.03.2011 31.03.2010 31.03.2011 31.03.2010 

EQY 198 2,115 USD 11.53 USD 11.01 0.3% 90.3% 90.3% 42.8% 

FCR 160 2,075 CAD 14.63 VAD 14.23 2.6% 96.4% 96.3% 50.1% 

CTY 77 938 EUR 19.1 EUR 17.8 3.2% 94.9% 94.5% 57.4% 

ATR 153 1,130 - - 15.9% 95.6% 94.1% 
2
14.1% 

Gazit Development 12 134 NIS 94 NIS 82.9 10.5% 97.1% 97.7% -
3
 

Gazit Germany 6 99 EUR 11.99 EUR 11.46 4.2% 94.3% 92.6% 56.9% 

Gazit Brazil 4 36 BRL 28.6 BRL 27.7 - 87.1% 98.1% -
4
 

ProMed 12 98 USD 24.5 USD 24.1 (0.2%) 95.7% 96.9% 54.7% 

GAA 8 48 CAD 13.1 CAD 12.6 - 87.5% 87.2% 69.4% 

(
*

)
 Change in same property NOI, compared to the corresponding quarter last year.  

                                                           
1  

Derived mainly from the presentation of investment property at fair value.  
2  

ATR’s net debt to market capitalization as of March 31, 2011 totaled 2.1%.  
3
  Gazit Development is financed mainly by shareholders’ loans granted by the Company.  

4
  Gazit Brazil is financed by shareholders’ loans granted by the Company.  
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Additional operational data: 

EQY  

- In the Reporting Period, leases were renewed on an area of 33 thousand square 

meters (approximately 355 thousand square feet).  The average basic monthly 

rent for these leases declined by 1.8% to USD 13.2 per square meter.  

- In the Reporting Period, new leases were signed on an area of 15 thousand 

square meters (approximately 161 thousand square feet), at an average basic 

monthly rent of USD 9.6 per square meter.  

FCR  

- In the Reporting Period, leases were renewed on an area of 53 thousand square 

meters (approximately 570 thousand square feet).  The average basic monthly 

rent for these leases rose by 9.9%, to CAD 10.1 per square meter.  

- In the Reporting Period, new leases were signed on an area of 26 thousand 

square meters (approximately 280 thousand square feet), at an average basic 

monthly rent of CAD 15.7 per square meter.  

RSC operational data: 

- As of March 31, 2011, the occupancy rate in the properties of RSC was 89.2% (as of 

March 31, 2010 – 86.1%).  The average monthly rent per unit is USD 3,386 and the 

NOI rate for the Reporting Period is 42.4%.  

- The same property NOI increased by an average of 19.4%, compared to the 

corresponding quarter last year.  

- Gross debt to market capitalization (derived mainly from the presentation of the fixed 

assets at fair value) totaled 54.4%, as of March 31, 2011.  

 

3) Data of properties under development, redevelopment, and expansion 

  Properties under Development 

Company 

name  

No. of 

properties 

Total investment as 

of March 31, 2011  

(NIS in millions) 

Cost for 

completion 

(NIS in millions) 

Area (sq. 

meters in 

thousands) 

FCR  3 20 23 4 

EQY  3 150 375 38 

CTY  3 366 111 28 

ATR  3 294 421 82 

Gazit 

Development 

 

2 156 50 18 

  14 986 980 170 
 

 

 Properties under Redevelopment and Expansion 

Company 

name  

No. of 

properties 

Total investment as 

of March 31, 2011 

(NIS in millions) 

Cost for 

completion 

(NIS in millions) 

Area (sq. 

meters in 

thousands) 

FCR  13 293 475 47 

EQY  7 3 112 33 

CTY  5 70 49 40 

  25 366 636 120 
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B. On January 4, 2011, EQY closed an agreement for the acquisition of C&C (US) No. 1 

Inc. (“CapCo”) through a joint venture (the “Joint Venture”) with Liberty 

International Holdings Limited (“LIH”), a subsidiary of Capital Shopping Centers 

Group Plc (“CSC”), in accordance with an agreement from May 24, 2010 that was 

amended on November 8, 2010.  On the closing date, CapCo held 13 income-producing 

properties with a total G.L.A. of approximately 240 thousand square meters 

(approximately 2.6 million square feet).  On the closing date, LIH contributed the entire 

outstanding share capital of Capco to the Joint Venture in return for the allocation of 

approximately 11.4 million units in the Joint Venture (the “Units”), granting LIH 22% 

interest in the Joint Venture, which can be converted by LIH into EQY ordinary shares (at 

a ratio of one EQY share for every unit in the Joint Venture, subject to adjustments) or 

into cash, at EQY’s sole discretion.  Furthermore, a 78% interest in the Joint Venture, 

which consists of 70% of the Joint Venture’s Class A shares and 100% of its Class B 

shares, was allocated to EQY, in exchange for the issuance of a U.S.$ 600 million 

promissory note.  The Class B shares were issued as part of the guaranteed yield 

mechanism specified in the transaction.  In addition, 4.1 million ordinary EQY shares and 

one A Series share in EQY, which was converted in June 2011, as provided for in its 

terms, into 10,000 ordinary shares of EQY and which, subject to certain restrictions, 

confers upon LIH voting rights in EQY, according to its holdings in the Joint Venture’s 

Units, in return for the assignment of CapCo’s promissory note in an amount of 

approximately U.S.$ 67 million to EQY.  Furthermore, a mortgage-secured debt 

amounting to approximately U.S.$ 243 million was assigned to the Joint Venture within 

the framework of the transaction.  At the same time as the closing of the transaction, EQY 

repaid in cash mortgage-secured debt amounting to U.S.$ 84.3 million.  Upon the closing 

of the transaction, LIH held 3.85% of EQY’s share capital and 13.16% of its voting 

rights; in parallel, the Group’s interest on the closing date (including GAA’s interests) in 

EQY’s capital were reduced and amounted to 39.3% and 38.8% of its share capital and 

voting rights, respectively.  In addition, the Company (through subsidiaries that hold 

EQY shares; in this section: the “Globe Group”) has entered into a shareholders’ 

agreement with LIH and CSC (together, the “Liberty Group”) and with EQY, 

which took effect on the transaction closing date (as amended in September 2011).  

The above agreement sets forth, inter alia, the following principles: (a) the Globe 

Group will support the appointment of one director recommended by the Liberty 

Group (with respect to shares constituting up to 45% of the voting rights at a 

meeting of EQY’s shareholders), while the Liberty Group has undertaken to 

support the appointment of the directors recommended by the Globe Group; (b) 

the Liberty Group has granted a right of first offer to the Globe Group in the event 

of a sale of EQY shares or Units of the Joint Venture (with regard to the Units of 

the Joint Venture – to the extent that EQY’s right of first offer is not exercised); 

(c) the Liberty Group has been granted a tag along right in the event of the Globe 

Group entering into a transaction involving any change in the control of EQY; and 

(d) the Liberty Group has undertaken to refrain from any action that involves an 

attempt to acquire control of EQY, and it has also undertaken not to acquire 

securities of EQY in excess of the agreed limit.  For further details refer to note 

3.a of the financial statements.  

 

C. On April 17, 2011, the Company closed the acquisition of 50% of the share capital 

of Acad from its partners, for a consideration of NIS 82 million, pursuant to the 

Buy Me Buy You (BMBY) mechanism specified in the Acad shareholders’ agreement, 

which had been activated by the Company’s partners.    For details, refer to note 3.b of the 

financial statements.  
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D. For details regarding the acquisition of 2 million EQY shares from Alony Hetz, 

refer to note 3.e of the financial statements.  

 

E. For details regarding debenture offerings by FCR, refer to notes 3.c and 3.d of the 

financial statements.  

 

F. For details regarding the C$ 49 million rights offering made by GAA and the 

participation of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in the offering, refer to 

note 3.f of the financial statements.  

 

G. For details regarding a share offering made by Dori Energy to the Alumei Green Energy 

Ltd., and the recognition of a gain from the loss of control recorded by U. Dori, refer to 

note 3.g of the financial statements.  

 

H. Dividend Distribution Policy  

Pursuant to the Company’s policy, the Company announces at the end of each year the 

anticipated dividend for the following year.  In November 2011, the Company announced 

that the dividend to be declared in 2012 would not be less than NIS 0.40 per share per 

quarter (NIS 1.60 per share on an annualized basis).  

The above is subject to the existence of sufficient distributable income at the relevant 

dates and is subject to the provisions of any law relating to dividend distributions and to 

decisions that the Company is permitted to take.  This includes the appropriation of its 

income for other purposes and the revision of this policy.  

The Company’s dividend growth in the years 1999-2012 is shown in the graph below:  

 

 

Agurot per share 

(100 Agurot = NIS 1) 

 
 

* Projected, assuming the decision of the Company’s Board of Directors regarding the 

dividend distribution rate for 2012 is applied as stated above.  
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2.2 Financial Position 

 

Current assets 

Current assets, as of March 31, 2011, total NIS 3.8 billion, compared to NIS 3.1 billion as of 

December 31, 2010.  The increase is due primarily to the growth in assets held for sale (at 

EQY, ATR and Gazit Development) and also to growth in the inventory of buildings and 

apartments for sale.  

 

Derivatives  

The derivatives arise mainly from swap-type foreign currency transactions, performed within 

the context of the Group’s policy to maintain as close a correlation as possible between the 

currency in which properties are acquired and the currency in which the liabilities to finance 

the acquisition of those properties are taken out (on a proportionate consolidation basis), and 

are presented at fair value.  As of March 31, 2011, the derivatives amounted to NIS 1,012 

million, compared to NIS 1,087 million as of December 31, 2010.  The reduction is due to the 

decline in the fair value of the derivatives.  

 

Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets  

Investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets, as of 

March 31, 2011, total NIS 51.8 billion (including properties held for sale that are presented 

under current assets), compared to NIS 47.8 billion as of December 31, 2010.  

In the Reporting Period, the Group acquired 22 income-producing properties, developed new 

properties and redeveloped existing properties at a total cost of NIS 3.5 billion.  The changes 

in the exchange rates of the Euro, the US Dollar and the Canadian Dollar against the New 

Israeli Shekel caused an increase of NIS 0.6 billion in these items.  In addition, adjustments to 

the fair value of investment property and investment property under development caused an 

increase of NIS 69 million in this item in the Reporting Period.  

 

Current liabilities  

Current liabilities, as of March 31, 2011, total NIS 5.1 billion, compared to NIS 5 billion at 

the end of 2010 and consist primarily of revolving credit facilities and current maturities of 

non-current liabilities in the amount of NIS 3.1 billion, compared to NIS 3.3 billion at the end 

of 2010.  

The current assets of NIS 3.8 billion, the approved unutilized credit facilities of NIS 3.6 

billion, and also the cash flows provided by operating activities, are together significantly 

greater than the amount of the current liabilities of the Group and, accordingly, Company 

management believes these to be adequate to settle the current liabilities as of March 31, 

2011.  

 

Non-current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities, as of March 31, 2011, totaled NIS 35.2 billion, compared to NIS 32.4 

billion as of December 31, 2010.  The increase in non-current liabilities is due mainly to 

debenture offerings made by the Group, primarily in order to finance the investments in 

investment property and investment property under development.  
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Non-controlling interests 

Non-controlling interests, as of March 31, 2011, total NIS 10,290 million, compared to 

NIS 9,254 million as of December 31, 2010 and mainly consist of the interests of EQY’s 

other shareholders, who, as of March 31, 2011, accounted for 55.2% of EQY’s equity, the 

interests of FCR’s other shareholders, who, as of March 31, 2011, accounted for 51.3% of 

FCR’s equity, the interests of CTY’s other shareholders, who, as of March 31, 2011, 

accounted for 52.7% of CTY’s equity and also the interests of GAA’s other shareholders, 

who, as of March 31, 2011, accounted for 30.5% of GAA’s equity.  

The increase in non-controlling interests is mainly due to the issuance of EQY shares and 

units convertible into EQY shares (refer to section 2.1.B above) and to the non-controlling 

interests' share in the profit of subsidiaries in the Reporting Period.  

 

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company 

Equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company, as of March 31, 2011, amounted to 

NIS 6,043 million, compared to NIS 5,915 million as of December 31, 2010.  The increase is 

mainly due to the increase in the capital reserves line-item amounting to NIS 203 million 

(primarily with respect to foreign currency translation adjustments of foreign operations 

resulting from changes in the exchange rates of the Euro, the US Dollar and the Canadian 

Dollar against the New Israeli Shekel) and the exercise of options amounting to NIS 2 

million, which was partially offset by the loss attributable to the equity holders of the 

Company amounting to NIS 17 million and the dividends declared amounting to NIS 60 

million.  

The equity per share attributable to the equity holders of the Company as of March 31, 2011 

totaled NIS 39.1 per share, compared to NIS 38.3 per share as of December 31, 2010.  This is 

after a dividend distribution of NIS 0.39 per share in the Reporting Period.  

 

Ratio of debt to total assets 

The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing net debt to its total assets stood at 61.2% as of 

March 31, 2011, compared to 63.0% as of March 31, 2010 and 60.7% as of December 31, 

2010.  

The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to its total assets stood at 62.4% as of 

March 31, 2011, compared to 64.4% as of March 31, 2010 and 61.9% as of December 31, 

2010.  

The ratio of the Group’s net interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market 

capitalization stood at 58.0% as of March 31, 2011, compared to 60.8% as of March 31, 2010 

and 57.8% as of December 31, 2010.  

The ratio of the Group’s interest-bearing debt to the Group companies’ total market 

capitalization stood at 59.2% as of March 31, 2011, compared to 62.3% as of March 31, 2010 

and 59.0% as of December 31, 2010.  

 

 



  23

2.3 Results of Operations 

 

A. The operating results are as follows: 

 For the 3  

months ended 

March 31 

For the  

year ended 

December 31 

 2011 2010 2010 

 NIS in millions (other than 

net earnings (loss) per share data) 

Rental income 1,268  1,138  4,596  

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and 

contractual works performed 177  156  691  

Total revenues 1,445  1,294  5,287  

Property operating expenses 442  408  1,551  

Cost of buildings sold, land and contractual works 

performed  165  145  622  

Total cost of revenues 607  553  2,173  

Gross profit 838  741  3,114  

Fair value gain (loss) from investment property and 

investment property under development, net 69  (46) 1,017  

General and administrative expenses (174) (163) (663) 

Other income (*) 70  22  13  

Other expenses (3) (1) (48) 

Group’s share in earnings (losses) of associates, net (6) 
(
**

)
-  2  

Operating income  (*)794  553  3,435  

    

Finance expenses (591) (369) (1,869) 

Finance income 53  216  569  

Decrease in value of financial investments (5) -  (18) 

Income before taxes on income  (*) 251 400  2,117  

Taxes on income  62  83  509  

Net income  (*)189  317  1,608  

Attributable to:    

 Equity holders of the Company  (17) 218  790  

 Non-controlling interests (*)206  99  818  

 189  317  1,608  

Net earnings (loss) per share attributable to equity 

holders of the Company (in NIS)  

   

Basic net earnings (loss)  (0.11) 1.57  5.59  

Diluted net earnings (loss)  (0.11) 1.56  5.57  

 

 (*)    Restated, see Note 2d to the financial statements.  
 
(**)  Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.  
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The comprehensive income (loss) is as follows: 

 

 

 For the 3  

months ended 

March 31 

For the  

year ended 

December 31 

 2011 2010 2010 

 NIS in millions  

Net income  (*)189  317  1,608  

Other comprehensive income (loss) (net of tax effect):    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations 225  (476) (1,272) 

Gains (losses) on cash flow hedges  71  (25) 49  

Net gains (losses) on available-for-sale- financial 

assets, net (14) (1) 12  

Gain (loss) on revaluation of fixed assets  (1) (1) 17  

Total other comprehensive income (loss) 281  (503) (1,194) 

Total comprehensive income (loss) (*)470  (186) 414  

Attributable to: 

 

   

 Equity holders of the Company  179  (81) 139  

 Non-controlling interests (*)291  (105) 275  

 

 

470  (186) 414  

     (*)    Restated, see Note 2d to the financial statements.  
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B. Analysis of Results of Operations for the First Quarter of 2011 

 

Rental income 

Rental income increased by 11% to NIS 1,268 million in the Reporting Period, compared 

to NIS 1,138 million in the corresponding quarter last year.  The increase is due mainly to 

the acquisition of CapCo by EQY and to the initial activation of properties whose 

development has been completed and the activation of properties acquired during 2010 by 

Group companies. 

 

Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed  

Revenues from the sale of buildings, land and contractual works performed amounted to 

NIS 177 million in the Reporting Period, comprising NIS 11 million from the sale of 

buildings and land and NIS 166 million from contractual works performed; this compares 

with a total of NIS 156 million in the corresponding quarter last year, comprising NIS 36 

million from the sale of buildings and land and NIS 120 million from contractual works 

performed.  

The gross profit from this activity amounted to NIS 12 million in the Reporting Period, 

compared to a gross profit of NIS 11 million in the corresponding quarter last year.  

 

Property operating expenses  

Property operating expenses amounted to NIS 442 million in the Reporting Period, 

constituting 34.4% of total rental income, compared to NIS 408 million, constituting 

35.8% of total rental income, in the corresponding quarter last year.  The improvement in 

the property operating expenses as a percentage of total rental income is evident at most 

of the Group companies.  

 

Gross profit from property rental activity  

Gross profit from property rental activity in the Reporting Period grew by 13% to 

NIS 826 million (65.1% of total rental income); this compares to NIS 730 million (64.2% 

of total rental income) in the corresponding quarter last year.  The increase in gross profit 

from property rental activity is due mainly to the initial activation of properties whose 

development has been completed and the activation of properties acquired in 2010 and 

2011.  

 

Fair value gain (loss) from investment property and investment property under 

development, net  

The Company applies the fair value model, as prescribed in International Accounting 

Standard No. 40 (Revised) – “Investment Property”.  As a result of implementing this 

standard, the Group recognized, in the Reporting Period, a fair value gain on its properties 

in a gross amount of NIS 69 million (the Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted to 

NIS 24 million).  This compares to a fair value loss of NIS 46 million in the 

corresponding quarter last year (the Company’s pre-tax share therein amounted to NIS 14 

million).  The increase in the value of investment property in the Reporting Period is due 

mainly to FCR.  
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General and administrative expenses  

General and administrative expenses amounted to NIS 174 million (12.0% of total 

revenues) in the Reporting Period, compared to NIS 163 million (12.6% of total revenues) 

in the corresponding quarter last year.  The increase in general and administrative 

expenses is due mainly to costs relating to transactions carried out by EQY and also to 

legal expenses with respect to the lawsuit filed against the Company by Meinl (refer to 

note 4.a of the financial statements).  

 

Other income  

Other income of NIS 70 million in the Reporting Period consists mainly of a NIS 30 

million gain from an offering to a third party in Acad (see Note 3g to the financial 

statements).  

 

Finance expenses  

Finance expenses amounted to NIS 591 million in the Reporting Period, compared to 

NIS 369 million in the corresponding quarter last year.  The increase in finance expenses 

in the Reporting Period is due mainly to a loss of NIS 103 million from the revaluation of 

derivatives (mainly of the swap-type) (in the corresponding quarter last year – finance 

income) and also to expenses from CPI-linkage differences (in the corresponding quarter 

last year – income from CPI-linkage differences).  The finance expenses reflect average 

nominal annual interest of 5.8% on the Group’s loans, compared to 4.7% in the 

corresponding quarter last year.  The increase in the nominal interest is due mainly to the 

adjustment of loans that are linked to the Israeli (known) consumer price index, which 

rose by 0.9% in the Reporting Period, compared to a fall of 0.9% in the corresponding 

quarter last year.  

 

Finance income  

Finance income in the Reporting Period includes a gain of NIS 17 million from writing 

down an original difference as the result of the early repayment of convertible debentures 

by ATR and a gain of NIS 5 million from the sale and revaluation of securities (in the 

corresponding quarter last year – a gain of NIS 16 million).  Finance income in the 

corresponding quarter last year also included a gain of NIS 152 million from the 

revaluation of derivatives, which was primarily with respect to hedging 

transactions (mainly of the swap-type), as opposed to the financing expenses with 

respect to hedging transactions in the Reporting Period, as referred to above.  

 

Taxes on income  

Taxes on income in the Reporting Period are mainly comprised of deferred tax expenses 

of NIS 53 million, which arise mainly from an increase in the deferred taxes liability 

relating to the fair value gain on investment property and to the change in the fair value of 

derivatives with respect to hedging transactions (mainly of the swap-type); this compares 

to deferred tax expenses of NIS 34 million in the corresponding quarter last year, which 

arose mainly from an increase in the deferred taxes liability relating to a change in the fair 

value of derivatives.  Taxes on income also include the Group companies’ current tax 

expenses of NIS 9 million, compared to NIS 49 million in the corresponding quarter last 

year.  
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2.4 Liquidity and Sources of Finance 

The Group has a policy of maintaining an appropriate level of liquidity that enables the 

pursuit of business opportunities in its areas of operations, as well as flexibility in 

accessibility to sources of finance.  

The sources of the Group’s liquid assets are its cash reserves (derived from its income-

producing properties), credit facilities, mortgages and long-term loans and raisings of 

debentures, convertible debentures and equity.  The Group uses these liquid resources for the 

acquisition, development and redevelopment of income-producing properties, the settlement 

of liabilities, investments in associates, other investments and the payment of dividends.  

As of March 31, 2011, the liquid assets available to the Group, including short-term 

investments, totaled NIS 1,657 million, similar to that as of December 31, 2010.  In addition, 

as of March 31, 2011, the Group has unutilized approved credit facilities available for 

immediate drawdown of NIS 3.6 billion, compared to NIS 4.8 billion as of December 31, 

2010.  

As of March 31, 2011, the Group has unutilized approved credit facilities available for 

immediate drawdown and liquid balances totaling NIS 5.3 billion at its disposal.  

As of March 31, 2011, the Group also had unpledged investment property, which is carried in 

the books at its fair value of NIS 28.2 billion.  

As of March 31, 2011, the Group has negative working capital amounting to NIS 1,299 

million.  The Group has approved credit facilities, which are available for immediate 

drawdown, and liquid balances amounting to NIS 3.6 billion, which can be utilized 

immediately, as described above.    For details regarding the agreement entered into by the 

Company with a bank in Israel for a 5-year revolving credit facility of USD 250 million, 

subsequent to the reporting date, refer to the update to the “Description of the Company’s 

Business” chapter; for details regarding a debenture offering made by FCR, subsequent to the 

reporting date, refer to note 4.b of the financial statements; for details regarding an offering of 

shares by EQY, subsequent to the reporting date, refer to note 4.c of the financial statements; 

in addition, CTY has entered into an agreement with banking corporations for the provision of 

a EUR 330 million credit facility.  In light of the aforementioned resources that are available 

to the Group in general and to the Company in particular, together with the addition of the 

positive cash flows from operating activities, the Company’s Board of Directors has 

determined that the existence of negative working capital is not sufficient to indicate that 

either the Company or the Group has a liquidity problem.  

 

Cash Flows 

Cash inflows from operating activities in the Reporting Period totaled NIS 342 million, 

compared to NIS 88 million.  The increase is due mainly to the growth in the Group’s 

activities through the acquisition and development of properties, to timing difference in third-

party receipts and payments and also to non-recurring transactions that took place in the 

Reporting Period.  

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s activities were funded by means of capital raised in an 

amount of NIS 304 million, by means of the issuance of debentures in a net amount of 

NIS 498 million and by means of taking loans and utilizing credit facilities in a net amount of 

NIS1,816 million.  The proceeds from the above sources were used primarily for the 

acquisition of investment property and fixed assets in a net amount of NIS 3,414 million. 
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2.5 Senior Employees’ Compensation 

A. On August 21, 2011, Mr. Chaim Katzman, Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board 

of Directors, and Mr. Dori Segal, Executive Vice Chairman of the Company’s Board of 

Directors, submitted to the Company an irrevocable notice regarding the waiver of part of 

each of their annual bonuses for 2011, in the amounts of up to NIS 7.14 million (for Mr. 

Katzman) and up to NIS 2.86 million (for Mr. Segal).  It is hereby clarified that the said 

waivers relate to the immediate payment, if any, to which each of Mr. Katzman and Mr. 

Segal would otherwise have been entitled upon publication of the annual financial 

statements of the Company for 2011 and in accordance with the Company’s results for 

the aforesaid year in its entirety; pursuant to each of their employment agreements and the 

letter of conditional waiver they signed in March 2008 (as referred to in sections B(3) and 

C(4) of Article 21 of Chapter D in the Company’s 2010 Periodic Report).  

B. On November 15, 2011, the employment agreement from February 2000 (as adjusted 

thereafter from time to time) between the Company (by means of a wholly owned 

subsidiary) and Mr. Chaim Katzman, the Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board of 

Directors and its controlling shareholder, expired.  The employment agreement expired as 

a result of the provisions enacted as part of the Companies Law (Amendment No. 16), 

2011, relating to the approval – once every three years – of engagements between a public 

company and its controlling shareholder, with respect to the terms of the latter's 

appointment and employment.  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, upon 

expiration of the agreement, Mr. Katzman is entitled to a one-time payment equivalent to 

the annual compensation (including the annual bonus) that was due to him in 2010.  

However, Mr. Katzman has notified the Company that he is waiving his right to the 

aforesaid payment in full.  

In a similar manner, on November 15, 2011, the employment agreement from October 

2004 (as adjusted thereafter from time to time) between the Company (by means of a 

wholly owned subsidiary) and Mr. Dori Segal, the Executive Vice-Chairman of the 

Company’s Board of Directors, also expired.  The agreement expired following a notice 

sent by the Company to Mr. Segal regarding non-renewal of the agreement with him (the 

term of the original agreement ended on September 30, 2011, and Mr. Segal agreed to 

defer the last date by which the Company was permitted to notify him of non-renewal of 

the agreement until November 15, 2011).  Pursuant to the terms of the employment 

agreement, upon expiration of the agreement, Mr. Segal is entitled to a one-time payment 

equivalent to the annual compensation (including the annual bonus) that was due to him 

in 2010.  However, Mr. Segal has notified the Company that he is waiving his right to the 

aforesaid payment in full.  

It is hereby clarified that, despite expiration of the agreements, Mr. Katzman and Mr. 

Segal are continuing to fulfill their duties as Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board 

of Directors and Executive Vice-Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors, 

respectively.  The Company is currently taking steps to formulate new employment and 

compensation arrangements with Messrs. Katzman and Segal, in light of the considerable 

importance it ascribes to their continued employment with the Company and intends to 

bring the new arrangements will be brought before the Company’s duly authorized organs 

for approval, within a reasonable time.  It is hereby also clarified that nothing in the 

aforesaid should be deemed to derogate from the validity of the agreements between Mr. 

Katzman and Mr. Segal with the Company’s public subsidiaries, as the case may be, by 

virtue of which the said persons are separately entitled to compensation.  
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3. Reporting of Exposures to Market Risks and their Management 

 

A. The individuals responsible for managing and reporting the Company’s market risks are the 

President and the Senior Executive Vice President and CFO of the Company.  Since 

March 15, 2011, the approval date of the Company’s annual report for 2010, there have not 

been any material changes in the types of market risks and their management.  

 

B. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates – From January 1, 2011 through March 31, 2011, 

the New Israeli Shekel appreciated against the US Dollar by 1.9% and devalued against the 

Canadian Dollar and the Euro by 1.1% and 4.5%, respectively.  As to the effect of exchange 

rates on the Company’s equity, refer to the linkage bases report as of March 31, 2011, 

attached as Appendix A to the Board of Directors’ report.  In addition, from March 31, 

2011until shortly before the date of approval of this report, the New Israeli Shekel appreciated 

against the Euro and the Canadian Dollar by 0.5% and 0.2%, respectively, and devalued 

against the US Dollar by 0.2%.  

Some of the Company’s liabilities (with respect to operations in Israel) are linked to changes 

in the Israeli consumer price index.  From January 1, 2011 through March 31, 2011, the 

(known) consumer price index rose by 0.9%.  As to the effect of changes in the consumer 

price index on the equity of the Company, refer to the linkage bases report as of March 31, 

2011, attached as Appendix A to the Directors’ report.  Furthermore, from March 31, 

2011until shortly before the date of approval of this report, the (known) consumer price index 

rose by 0.8%.  

 

C. During the period from January 1, 2011 through the date that the financial statements were 

signed, the individuals responsible for reporting and managing the Company’s market risks 

(the Company’s President and its Senior Executive Vice President and CFO) have held and 

continue to hold regular weekly discussions concerning the exposure to market risks, 

including changes in exchange rates and interest rates.  During the above period, the 

Company’s Board of Directors discussed said risks and the Company’s policy regarding them 

during the meetings at which the financial statements as of December 31, 2010 and March 31, 

2011 were approved.  

 

D. As in the past, it has been the Company’s policy in the aforesaid period too to maintain as 

close a correlation as possible between the currency in which properties are acquired and the 

currency in which the liabilities to finance the acquisition of those properties are taken out.  

Management regularly evaluates the linkage bases report and takes appropriate action in 

accordance with exchange rate developments.  As a general rule, the Company tries to hold its 

equity in the currencies of the various markets in which it operates and in the same 

proportions as the assets in each such currency bear to the total assets, while making 

occasional hedging transactions to mitigate the aforementioned exposure to changes in 

foreign currency exchange rates.  The Group conducts the management of market risks 

primarily in order to mitigate its economic exposure.  
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As of March 31, 2011, the economic exposure of the Company’s equity (NIS 6 billion) to the 

various currencies is distributed as follows:  

EUR, 39%

CAD, 32%

NIS, 6%USD, 23%

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4. Corporate Governance Aspects 

 

4.1 Donations 

 

The Company customarily makes donations to charities and to projects for community 

welfare and education in the various countries in which it operates.  Within the framework of 

this activity the Company has pledged to support a number of agencies through a perennial 

donation framework, as follows:  

A. The Company makes donations to Tel-Aviv University, which operates an institute 

focusing on research and studies of all manner of real estate-related topics (The Chaim 

Katzman – Gazit-Globe Real Estate Institute).  The Company has pledged to make an 

annual donation of USD 150,000 for a period of 7 years (commenced in 2005).  

B. The Company has adopted a battalion of front-line conscripts within the framework of the 

“Adopt a Front-Line Soldier” Project.  Within the framework of this project, the 

Company has pledged to make an annual donation of NIS 100,000 for 3 years 

(commenced in 2010).  

C. The Company makes donations to the Interdisciplinary Center (IDC) Herzliya for the 

purpose of establishing an institute to engage in research and studies in the fields of real 

estate initiation and management (The Gazit-Globe Institute).  The Company has pledged 

to donate a total amount of USD 2,900 thousand to the IDV through 2018.  

In addition, the Group makes donations to numerous other bodies.  

In the Reporting Period, the Group’s donations amounted to NIS 1,236 thousand.  
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4.2 Disclosure Regarding the Financial Statements’ Approval Process  

As resolved by the Company’s Board of Directors, the Company’s Audit and Balance Sheet 

Committee is responsible for ultimate control in the Company.  As part of this role, the Audit 

and Balance Sheet Committee discusses, inter alia, the Company’s financial statements, 

including audit topics relating to ultimate control, and presents its recommendations to the 

Board of Directors.  Hence, the committee that conducts the examination of the financial 

statements (as this is defined in the Companies Regulations (Instructions and Conditions 

Regarding the Approval of the Financial Statements), 2010) is the Company’s Audit 

Committee.  

The four members appointed to the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee are Messrs. Yair 

Orgler (an external director and the Chairman of the Committee), Noga Knaz (an external 

director), Shay Pilpel (an independent director; Mr. Pilpel is a member of the Audit and 

Balance sheet committee as of August 2011 and therefore did not attend the committee in 

May 2011) and Chaim Ben-Dor.  All the members of the Committee are classified as 

possessing accounting and financial expertise.  

For details regarding the qualifications, education, experience and know-how of the above 

directors, which form the basis for the Company deeming these directors to be capable of 

reading and understanding the financial statements and to possess accounting and financial 

expertise, refer to Article 26 of Chapter D of the 2010 Periodic Report.  All the above 

directors have provided a declaration, in accordance with the meaning thereof in Regulation 1 

of the Companies Regulations (Instructions and Conditions Regarding the Approval of the 

Financial Statements), 2010.  

A meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee, within the framework of which the 

committee’s recommendations to the Board of Directors are discussed and formulated about 

the initial publication of the financial statements (prior to its restatement), convened on 

May 18, 2011.  All the members of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee attended the 

meeting, as also did the Company’s President, Mr. Aharon Soffer, the Company’s Senior 

Executive Vice President and CFO, Mr. Gadi Cunia, the Company’s Senior Executive Vice 

President and General Counsel, Mr. Eran Ballan, the Company’s Vice President and 

Controller, Mr. Rami Vaisenberger, the representatives that deal with the Company on behalf 

of the independent auditors and the representatives of the law firm that assists the Company. 

In light of the restatement of the financial statements, as specified in section H above,  on 

December 2, 2011 the Audit and Balance sheet committee discussed the restated financial 

statements and formulated its recommendations to the Board of Directors. Audit and Balance 

sheet committee meeting attended by all those present at the meeting these reports were 

initially discussed (as described above) and Mr. Shay Pilpel. 

Within the framework of the process of the Company’s financial statements being approved 

by the Board of Directors and their being discussed by the Audit and Balance Sheet 

Committee, a draft of the financial statements, and a draft of the other parts of the quarterly 

report, as well as a draft of the presentation reviewing the operations in the Reporting Period, 

are sent for the perusal of the members of the committee several days before the date of the 

meeting of the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee.  

During the Audit and Balance Sheet Committee’s meetings, the Senior Executive Vice 

President and CFO, Mr. Gadi Cunia, provided a review of the Company’s financial position, 

its operating results and its cash flows, and presented data concerning the Company’s 

activities together with a comparison with prior periods.  During the  discussion, the 

Company’s management (including, the President of the Company, the Senior Executive Vice 

President and CFO of the Company and the Controller of the Company) reviewed the major 

financial reporting issues that have arisen in the course of preparing the financial statements, 
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including a review of transactions not within the normal course of business, the assessments 

and estimates applied in connection with the financial statements, the principles applied in 

assessing the fair value of the Company’s investment property and of its other assets and 

liabilities on which the data in the financial statements are based, internal controls relating to 

the financial reporting, matters relating to the completeness and fairness of the disclosures in 

the financial statements, aspects of the accounting policy adopted and changes thereto, the 

accounting treatment applied with regard to material matters, and the possible effect on the 

financial statements of significant risks and exposures. In addition, the Audit and Balance 

sheet committee's meeting of December 2, 2011 discussed issues of the company and EQY 

related to the restatement of the company's financial statements as described at Note 2d to the 

financial statements and the resulting corrections in the company's financial statements.  The 

representative of the independent auditors presented to the committee the issues of principle 

that arose in the course of their work reviewing the financial statements.  Management and 

the Company’s independent auditors responded to questions from the directors with regard to 

the financial statements and to all matters discussed at the meetings.  

The Audit and Balance Sheet Committee drew up its recommendations with regard to the 

approval of the financial statements and these were presented (in writing) to the rest of the 

members of the Board of Directors shortly after the committee’s meeting.  

The Company’s Board of Directors discussed the recommendations of the Audit and Balance 

Sheet Committee, which was transferred to the Board members one business day in advance, 

at the meeting of Board of Directors at which the approval of the financial statements was 

discussed.  In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the recommendations of the committee 

were presented a reasonable time before the discussion of the Board of Directors, taking into 

consideration the special circumstances of the re-approval of the financial statements after 

having been initially approved by the Board of Directors and taking into consideration the 

scope and complexity of the recommendations and also considering the fact that the draft of 

the financial statements had been sent to all members of the Board of Directors in reasonable 

time.  The period determined by the Board of Directors as being a “reasonable time” for this 

purpose is between two and four business days, in accordance with the actual circumstances 

of the financial statements presented for approval, including their complexity and the unique 

issues contained therein.  

During the meeting of the Board of Directors at which the financial statements were discussed 

and approved, the Company’s management reviewed the financial position, the operating 

results and the cash flows of the Company, while making reference to various material 

matters and issues and discussing the effectiveness of the internal control. In addition, in the 

company's Board meeting for the re-approval of the financial statements, issues related to the 

restatement of the company's financial statements were discussed as stated in Note 2d to the 

financial statements and the resulting corrections in the company's financial statements.  

At the meeting of the Board of Directors held on May 22, 2011, at which the said financial 

statements were initially approved and in the meeting of the Board of Directors which took 

place on December 4, 2011 in which these financial statements were approved after their 

restatement, all members of the Board of Directors serving on the date of approval of the 

financial statements were present (for the names of the members of the Board of Directors 

and their other particulars, refer to Article 26 in Chapter D of the 2010 Periodic Report), as 

well as all the parties who had attended the meetings of the Audit and Balance Sheet 

Committee, as detailed above.  
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5. Disclosure Regarding the Financial Reporting of the Company  

 

 

5.1 Additional Information and Subsequent Events 

A. For details regarding the agreement entered into by the Company with a bank in Israel for 

a revolving credit facility of USD 250 million, subsequent to the reporting date, refer to 

the update to the “Description of the Company’s Business” chapter.  

B. For details regarding an offering of convertible debentures by FCR, refer to note 4.b of 

the financial statements.  

C. For details regarding the conversion of FCR’s convertible debentures into FCR shares, 

including convertible debentures held by the Company, refer to note 4.h of the financial 

statements. 

D. On May 19, 2011, Midroog announced the upgrading of its rating of the various series of 

the Company’s debentures in circulation from a rating of A1 to a rating of Aa3 with a 

Stable outlook.  

E. For details regarding an offering of shares by EQY and the Company’s participation in 

this offering, as well the acquisition of a million EQY shares from Alony Hetz, see note 

4.c of the financial statements. 

F. For details regarding a settlement agreement between the Company, ATR and Meinl 

Bank AG (“Meinl”) and other parties, which was signed and became effective, refer to 

note 4.a of the financial statements.  

G.  On May 12, 2011, the Company announced that it is taking steps toward a  potential 

public offering and listing of its shares on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).  

H. On May 12, 2011, CTY entered into an agreement with banking corporations for the 

provision of a loan and a credit facility, both of which are unsecured, in a total amount of 

EUR 330 million, for a period of five years.  

I. For details regarding a EUR 100 million share offering by CTY and the Company’s 

participation in this offering, and also regarding the acquisition of 2.2 million CTY shares 

through stock exchange trades, refer to note 4.g of the financial statements.  

J.  On August 2, 2011, S&P Maalot announced its reconfirmation of the A+ rating on the 

various series of the Company’s debentures and that it was raising the outlook from 

Stable to Positive. 

K. On August 11, 2011, ProMed acquired, for U.S.$ 112 million, a medical research 

building and medical offices building that are physically connected to Tufts Medical 

Center, located in the heart of Boston.  The two buildings together have a G.L.A. of 

23,400 square meters (approximately 252 thousand square feet) and are leased in their 

entirety to Tufts Medical Center, an academic medical center that has 415 beds and is the 

medical school of Tufts University, an internationally renowned institution. 

L. For details regarding the agreement entered into by EQY for the sale of properties in an 

amount of U.S.$ 473 million, refer to note 4.l of the financial statements.  

M. For details regarding a NIS 451 million debenture offering by the Company, refer to note 

4.k of the financial statements.  

N. For details regarding the acquisition of 4.6 million ATR shares through stock exchange 

trades, refer to note 4.i of the financial statements. 
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5.2 Critical Accounting Estimates 

In the course of preparing the financial statements, the Group’s management is required to 

make estimates and assessments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 

revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  

Management bases its estimates and assessments, including those prepared by independent 

external professional parties (e.g., appraisers and assessors), on past experience and other 

factors that, in its opinion, are relevant taking the particular circumstances into account.  

Actual results could differ from these assessments under different assumptions or conditions.  

In the Reporting Period, no changes occurred in the critical estimates which have the 

potential to materially affect the financial statements, apart from the revaluation of 

derivatives.  
 

5.3 Additional information in the auditors' report to the shareholders 

 
Without qualifying their opinion, the auditors drawn attention to Note 2d to the financial 

statements regarding the restatement of the financial statements in order to retrospectively 

reflect the effect of the correction of an error in the financial statements of a subsidiary in 

context of the measure of the fair value of non-controlling interests in business combination. 
 

6. Details Concerning the Corporation’s Publicly-Held Commitment Certificates  
 

A. On September 5, 2011, by means of a shelf offer report, the Company closed a public offering 

of series K debentures with a nominal value of NIS 451 million, raising net proceeds of 

NIS 446 million.  The debentures (series K) are linked (principal and interest) to the Israeli 

consumer price index, bear fixed annual interest at a rate of 5.35%, which is paid twice a year 

on March 31 and September 30.  These debentures are repayable in five installments, the first 

of which – at the rate of 10% of the principal – will fall due on September 30, 2018; the 

second installment – at the rate of 15% of the principal – will fall due on September 30, 2020 

and the third, fourth and fifth installments – each at the rate of 25% of the principal – will fall 

due on September 30 of each of the years 2022-2024.  The trustee for the debentures (series 

K) is Aurora Fidelity Trust company Ltd. 

 

B. Collateral for debentures (series J)  

The Company’s commitments pursuant to the debentures (series J) are secured by a fixed, 

first-ranking charge on the rights relating to properties, as detailed in the Company’s 

immediate report from January 18, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-016440) (“the preliminary 

report”) and in the shelf offer report from February 19, 2009 (reference no. 2009-01-040392) 

(“the shelf offer report”; the information contained in the preliminary report and in the shelf 

offer report is hereby presented by means of this reference).  No material changes have 

occurred in the value of the pledged properties as of March 31, 2011, compared to their value 

as presented in the 2010 Periodic Report.  

C. On May 19, 2011, Midroog announced the upgrading of its rating of the various series of the 

Company’s debentures in circulation from a rating of A1 to a rating of Aa3 with a Stable 

outlook.  

D. On August 2, 2011, S&P Maalot announced its reconfirmation of the A+ rating on the various 

series of the Company’s debentures and that it was raising the outlook from Stable to 

Positive.  

 

December 4, 2011 _____________________ _____________________ 

Date of Approval  Chaim Katzman Aharon Soffer 

of Board of Directors’ Report Chairman of the Board of Directors President  
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Appendix A to the Board of Directors’ Report  

Linkage Bases Report 

 

 A s  o f  M a r c h  3 1 ,  2 0 1 1  

 Linked to In USD In CAD In EUR In non-    

 the consumer or linked or linked or linked index- Other-   

 price index thereto thereto thereto linked NIS currencies Unlinked Total 

 N I S  i n  m i l l i o n s  

Monetary assets         

Cash and cash equivalents -  146  355  483  101  271  -  1,356  

Short-term loans and investments 1  36  43  42  69  8  46  245  

Trade receivables, accrued income and other accounts 

receivable 183  78  87  90  68  125  143  774  

Other long-term investments, loans and receivables 5  (*)119  57  6  3  15  33  238  

Available-for-sale securities -  -  -  -  -  -  258  258  

Financial derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  1,117  1,117  

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  -  -  83  83  

 189  379  542  621  241  419  1,680  4,071  

Non-monetary assets 1 26  (**)13,505  18,354  10,353  2,430  4,713  (*)3,221  52,602  

Total assets 215  13,884  18,896  10,974  2,671  5,132  4,901  56,673  

         

Monetary liabilities         

Credit from banks and others 3  6  5  110  56  9  -  189  

Trade payables and other accounts payables 46  204  424  311  427  68  123  1,612  

Advances from customers and buyers of apartments -  -  -  -  -  -  98  98  

Liabilities attributable to assets held for sale -  (**)213  -  36  -  7  3  298  

Debentures 26,232  2,662  4,577  773  31,999  -  -  16,243  

Convertible debentures  10  -  622  131  -  -  -  763  

Interest-bearing liabilities to financial institutions and others 349  4,508  5,251  5,577  5  2,899  (10) 18,579  

Financial derivatives -  -  -  -  -  -  109  109  

Other financial liabilities 3  53  74  75  -  35  -  240  

Employee benefit liabilities, net -  2  -  -  -  -  2  4  

Deferred taxes -  -  -  -  - -  (**)2,205  2,205  

Total liabilities 6,643  7,696  10,953  7,013  2,487  3,018  2,530  40,340  

Assets, net of liabilities (6,428) 6,188  7,943  3,961  184  2,114  2,371  16,333  

 

                                                           
1 Mainly investment property, investment property under development and fixed assets.  
2
  Of the total of NIS 6,232 million, the Company has cross-currency swap transactions on an amount of NIS 2,589 million. 

3
  Of the total of NIS 1,999  million, the Company has cross-currency swap transactions on an amount of NIS 1,863 million. 

(*)  Restated, see Note 2d to the financial statements.  

(**)Retroactively adjusted, see Note 2d to the financial statements.  

 



UPDATE TO THE DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S BUSINESS FOR THE 2010 

PERIODIC REPORT OF GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. (“the Company”) 

 

Pursuant to Regulation 39A of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970, 

details are presented below concerning material changes and developments that have taken place in 

the Company’s business since the publication of the Company’s Periodic Report for 2010 (“the 

Periodic Report”), for each matter that has to be described in the Periodic Report.  

The financial statements as of March 31, 2011 and for the three months ended on that date have 

been restated; therefore this update to the periodic report is set forth. This update includes all the 

material changes and developments that have taken place in the Company’s business since the 

publication of the Company’s Periodic Report throughout the publication of the restated report. 

Update to Section 3 – Dividend distributions in the last two years  

A. On April 11, 2011, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of 

NIS 60,235 thousand (NIS 0.39 per share).  

B. On July 4, 2011, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of NIS 60,235 

thousand (NIS 0.39 per share).  

C. On October 4, 2011, the Company distributed a dividend to its equity holders in the amount of 

NIS 60,241 thousand (NIS 0.39 per share).  

D. For details regarding the dividend declared by the Company on November 20, 2011, refer to note 

4.f of the financial statements.  

Update to Section 6 – Acquisition, development and operation of shopping centers in the 

U.S.A.  

A. For details regarding the agreement the Company entered, through one of its wholly owned 

subsidiaries, with Alony Hetz for the acquisition of 2 million ordinary EQY shares, refer to 

note 3.e of the financial statements.  

B.  For details regarding a share offering by EQY and the Company’s participation in this offering, the 

acquisition of an additional million EQY shares from Alony-Hetz and the acquisition of EQY shares 

through stock exchange trades, refer to note 3.e of the financial statements.  

C. For details regarding the agreement entered into by EQY for the sale of shopping centers, refer to note 

4.l of the financial statements. 



 

Update to Section 7 – Acquisition, development and operation of shopping centers in Canada  

A. For details regarding the public offering in Canada made by FCR by means of a shelf 

prospectus of C$ 110 million par value of unsecured debentures (series M), which bear annual 

interest at the rate of 5.60%, refer to note 3.d of the financial statements.  

B. For details regarding the public offering in Canada made by FCR of C$ 57.5 million par value 

of unsecured convertible debentures (series E), which bear annual interest at the rate of 5.40%, 

refer to note 4.b.1 of the financial statements. 

C. For details regarding the public offering in Canada by FCR through a series extension of C$ 65 million 

par value of unsecured debentures (series M), refer to note 4.b.2 of the financial statements.  

D. For details regarding the public offering in Canada by FCR of C$ 57.5 million par value of unsecured 

convertible debentures (series F), which bear annual interest at the rate of 5.25%, refer to note 4.b.3 of 

the financial statements.  

E. For details regarding the conversion of FCR’s convertible debentures (series A and B) into FCR 

shares, including the convertible debentures held by the Company, refer to note 4.h of the financial 

statements.  

Update to Section 8 – Acquisition, development and operation of shopping centers in 

Northern Europe  

A. For details regarding an offering of shares by CTY and the Company’s participation in this offering, 

and also regarding the acquisition of CTY shares through stock exchange trades, refer to note 4.g of 

the financial statements.  

B.     Subsequent to the reporting date, CTY entered into an agreement with banking corporations for the    

         provision of a loan and a credit facility, both of which are unsecured, in a total amount of EUR 330  

         million, for a period of five years. 

Update to Section 9 – Acquisition, development and operation of shopping centers in Central and 

Eastern Europe  

For details regarding the acquisition of ATR shares through stock exchange trades, refer to note 4.i of the 

financial statements.  

 

 

 



Update to Section 10 – Initiation, development, management and construction of real estate 

projects 

A.      For details regarding the closing of an offering of 40% of its shares made by Dori Energy (a wholly    

         owned subsidiary of U. Dori) to Alumey Clean Energy Ltd., for a total consideration of NIS 50     

         million, and the grant of an option for the acquisition of a further 10% of Dori Energy’s shares, refer        

         to note 3.g of the financial statements.  

B. For details regarding the acquisition of 50% of the shares of Acad from the other shareholders of Acad 

(whereby Acad became a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company), for a consideration of NIS 82 

million, pursuant to the Buy and Sell mechanism (BMBY) specified in the Acad shareholders’ 

agreement, and also regarding an agreement for the sale of 100% of Acad’s share capital to Gazit 

Development, refer to note 3.b of the financial statements.  

Update to Section 11.4 – ProMed  

On August 11, 2011, ProMed acquired, for U.S.$ 112 million, a medical research building and medical 

offices building that are physically connected to Tufts Medical Center, located in the heart of Boston.  The 

two buildings have a total G.L.A. of 23,400 square meters (approximately 252 thousand square feet) and are 

leased in their entirety to Tufts Medical Center, an academic medical center that has 415 beds and is the 

medical school of Tufts University, an internationally renowned institution.  

Update to Section 11.5 – GAA  

For details regarding a CAD 49 million rights offering made by GAA in Canada, pursuant to a 

prospectus, and the participation of a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company in the offering, refer 

to note 3.f of the financial statements.  

Update to Section 18 – Human Resources  

A. For details regarding the notifications of waiver by the Executive Chairman of the Company’s Board 

of Directors and by the Executive Vice-Chairman of the Company’s Board of Directors of NIS 7.1 

million and NIS 2.9 million, respectively, from their 2011 bonus entitlement, refer to note 4.j of the 

financial statements.  

B.      For details regarding expiration of the employment agreements with Messrs. Katzman and Segal,   

         refer to note 4.n of the financial statements. 

 

 

 

 



Update to Section 20 – Financing  

1. On May 19, 2011, Midroog announced the upgrading of its rating of the various series of the 

Company’s debentures in circulation from a rating of A1 to a rating of Aa3 with a Stable outlook.  

2. On August 2, 2011, S&P Maalot announced the reconfirmation of the A+ rating on the various series 

of the Company’s debentures and that it was raising the outlook from Stable to Positive.  

3. For details regarding a public offering by the Company of series K debentures with a par value of 

NIS 451 million, in consideration for NIS 446 million, refer to note 4.j of the financial statements. 

4. Agreement with a syndicate of Israeli banks to fund the investment in ATR  

As stated in section 20.2.1 of the Chapter titled “Description of the Company’s Business” in the 

Company’s 2010 Periodic Report, in order to fund its investment in ATR, in August 2008, the 

Company entered into an agreement with a consortium of banks, headed by Bank Hapoalim Ltd., for a 

loan designated for the purchase of securities of ATR, the terms of which have been changed from 

time to time (most recently in December 2010).  As of December 31, 2010, the outstanding loan 

balance was EUR 194 million, repayable in January 2015.  The loan is primarily secured by a lien on 

the shares of ATR and on the shares of FCR (an immaterial percentage), and also on the Company’s 

contractual rights pursuant to the ATR investment transaction.  The loan bears interest at the relevant 

LIBOR interest rate with the addition of a prescribed margin.  

The loan agreement includes principal financial covenants, the main ones of which are set forth below.  

Non-compliance with these covenants will constitute cause for the loan’s immediate repayment (the 

Company was in compliance with all such covenants, both as of December 31, 2010 and also as of 

September 30, 2011).  

4.1 The ratio of the debt, pursuant to the agreement, to the value of the collateral (based on its 

quoted price averaged over a number of trading days) is not to exceed 60%.  As of December 31, 

2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 39.1% and 49%, respectively;  

4.2 The equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, according to the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements, is to be maintained above NIS 3.75 billion.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the equity attributable to the Company’s 

equity holders was NIS 5.9 billion and NIS 6.5 billion, respectively;  

4.3 The ratio of the Company’s net liabilities on an “expanded stand-alone” basis (the Company and 

the private companies that it owns) to the value of its holdings (on an equity method basis) is not 

to exceed 77.5%.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio 

was 63.7% and 65.8%, respectively;  



4.4 The ratio of the Company’s net liabilities to the value of its holdings (on an equity method basis) 

on the basis of consolidated financial statements is not to exceed 75%.  As of December 31, 

2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 63.8% and 64.0%, respectively;  

4.5 The equity attributable to ATR’s equity holders is not to fall below EUR 1.5 billion.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid equity was EUR 2.2 billion and 

EUR 2.3 billion, respectively;  

4.6 The ratio of the equity attributable to ATR’s equity holders to ATR’s total assets is not to fall 

below 48.5%.   As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 

77.5% and 75%, respectively. 

Moreover, the agreement also contains other normal terms (including some relating to ATR) regarding 

the circumstances under which the loan will become immediate repayable.  These terms include: a 

change in the control of the Company and ATR, certain material legal proceedings (including those 

associated with liquidation, receivership, assets sale proceedings and execution), cessation of all 

activity, cessation of trading in the pledged securities, a cross-default according to certain thresholds 

and conditions, and so forth.  The agreement also includes undertakings given by the Company in 

connection with its holding in ATR, including an undertaking to hold a minimum quantity of ATR 

shares, both together with CPI and on its own.  

5. Credit facility agreement with an Israeli bank – Credit line against CTY shares  

In May 2010, the Company entered into an agreement (which was updated in August 2010) with an 

Israeli bank to receive a U.S.$ 200 million credit facility, which will be in place until April 2013.  The 

Company may make drawdowns on the facility in various currencies.  The facility bears variable 

interest at the level of interest that serves as the basis for determining interest rates on loans that the 

bank extends to its general clientele, with respect to loans of the same type and for similar periods, 

with the addition of a fixed prescribed margin.  The facility has no linkage mechanism.  The credit 

facility is secured by a lien on some of the CTY shares owned by the Company (with the quantity of 

the shares pledged to the bank not to fall below 30% of CTY’s issued and paid-up share capital).  

The credit facility agreement includes principal financial covenants, the main ones of which are set 

forth below.  Non-compliance with these covenants will constitute cause for the credit’s immediate 

repayment (the Company was in compliance with all such covenants, both as of December 31, 2010 

and also as of September 30, 2011).  

5.1 The ratio of the debt (calculated according to the credit actually utilized at any time; hereafter, in 

sections 2-4 below: the “utilized debt”) to the collateral (the pledged CTY shares, whose value 

will be determined based on the average between the stock exchange value of the CTY shares 

and the net accounting value of the CTY shares) is not to exceed 70%.  As of December 31, 

2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 10% and 38.2%, respectively;  



5.2 The ratio of the market value of the collateral (based on its quoted price averaged over a number 

of trading days) to the utilized debt pursuant to the agreement is not to fall below1.1.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 9.2 and 2.2, 

respectively;  

5.3 The equity attributable to the equity holders, according to the Company’s consolidated financial 

statements, is to be maintained above NIS 3.5 billion.  For details regarding the aforesaid equity 

as of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, refer to section 4.2 above;  

5.4 The Company’s average quarterly EPRA Direct Result (FFO, as calculated according to the 

EPRA rules) for any two consecutive quarters is not to be less than NIS 60 million.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the average quarterly EPRA Direct Result for 

the last two quarters preceding those dates was NIS 95 million and NIS 103 million, 

respectively;  

5.5 The ratio of the Company’s net liabilities to the value of its holdings (on an equity method basis) 

on the basis of consolidated financial statements is not to exceed 75%.  For details regarding this 

ratio as of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, refer to section 4.4 above;  

5.6    The ratio of the Company’s net liabilities (on an “expanded stand-alone” basis) to the value of  

         its holdings (on an equity method basis) is not to exceed 77.5%.  For details regarding this ratio  

         as of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, refer to section 4.3 above;  

5.7 The ratio of CTY’s equity (including equity loans without non-controlling interests, net of the 

fair value of derivatives included therein, according to the consolidated financial statements) to 

CTY’s total assets is not to fall below 30%.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 

2011, the aforesaid ratio was 39.4% and 40.4%, respectively;  

5.8 The ratio of CTY’s EBITDA to CTY’s net finance expenses is not to fall below 1.6.  As of both 

December 31, 2010 and September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 2.0.  

Moreover, the agreement also contains other normal terms (including some relating to CTY) regarding 

the circumstances under which the credit will become immediate repayable.  These terms include: a 

change in the control of the Company or CTY, a restructuring, certain material legal proceedings 

(including those associated with liquidation, receivership, assets sale proceedings and execution), 

cessation of all activity, cessation of trading in the Company’s shares or in CTY’s shares, a cross-

default according to certain thresholds and conditions, and so forth.  

Utilization of the credit facility by the Company is subject to the ratio between the debt owed to the 

bank and the average value of the collateral, determined as stated in section 5.1 above, not exceeding 

0.6.  

 



6. Agreement with an Israeli bank – Credit Line against FCR shares  

In July 2010, the Company and a wholly owned subsidiary entered into an agreement (which was 

revised in December 2010) with an Israeli bank to receive a C$ 330 million credit facility, which will 

be in place until January 2014.  The Company may make drawdowns on the facility in various 

currencies.  The credit facility bears interest at the level of the bank’s usual interest for credit with 

characteristics similar to the relevant credit, with the addition of a prescribed margin (subject to an 

increase in the cost of the credit due to a downgrading of the Company’s credit rating).  The credit 

facility has no linkage mechanism.  The credit facility is secured by a lien on some of the FCR shares 

owned by the Company, which constitutes the Company’s control core in FCR.  

The credit facility agreement includes principal financial covenants, the main ones of which are set 

forth below.  Non-compliance with these covenants will constitute cause for the credit’s immediate 

repayment (the Company was in compliance with all such covenants, both as of December 31, 2010 

and also as of September 30, 2011).  

          6.1   The ratio of the utilized debt, pursuant to the agreement, to the market value of the pledged  

                 shares (based on their quoted price averaged over a number of trading days) is not to exceed  

                 85%.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 7% and  

                 19%, respectively;  

6.2 The ratio of net interest-bearing liabilities to the Company’s consolidated total assets is not to 

exceed 75%.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 

59.7% and 59.4%, respectively;  

6.3 The ratio of the Company’s net interest-bearing liabilities (on an “expanded stand-alone” basis) 

to the value of its holdings (on an equity method basis) is not to exceed 80%.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 61.5% and 63.5%, 

respectively;  

6.4 The ratio of the dividends paid on the pledged FCR shares to the actual interest payments on the 

debt utilized pursuant to the credit facility, during three consecutive quarters, is not to fall below 

1.5.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 22.8 and 

6.4, respectively;  

6.5 The ratio of FCR’s EBITDA to FCR’s finance expenses is not to fall below 1.55.  As of 

December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 2.21 and 2.14, 

respectively;  

6.6 The ratio of FCR’s net financial debt, plus the leverage reflecting the total utilized bank credit 

out of the total credit, to FCR’s EBITDA, is not to exceed 14.2, and is also not to exceed 13.5 

during three consecutive quarters.  As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the 

aforesaid ratio was 7.8 and 9.5, respectively;  



6.7 The ratio of the proportionate part of FCR’s net financial debt, according to the percentage of 

FCR shares pledged to the bank plus the utilized debt, to the proportionate part of the value of 

FCR’s properties (which is also calculated according to the percentage of FCR shares pledged to 

the bank), is not to exceed 82%, and is also not to exceed 80% during three consecutive quarters.  

As of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 53.1% and 

59.4%, respectively; 

6.8 The equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, according to the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements, is to be maintained above NIS 3.2 billion.  For details 

regarding the aforesaid equity as of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, refer to 

section 4.2 above.  

Moreover, the agreement also contains other normal terms (including some relating to FCR) regarding 

the circumstances under which the credit will become immediate repayable.  These terms include: a 

change in the control of the Company or FCR, a restructuring or merger, certain material legal 

proceedings (including those associated with liquidation, receivership, assets sale proceedings and 

execution), cessation of all activity, cessation of trading in the securities pledged to secure the credit or 

in the Company’s securities, a cross-default according to certain thresholds and conditions, and so 

forth.  

7. Agreements with an Israel bank and a U.S. bank owned by it – Credit line against EQY shares and 

GAA shares 

In June 2010, the Company and wholly owned subsidiaries entered into an agreement with an Israeli 

bank and a U.S. bank owned by the latter to receive a U.S.$ 250 million credit facility, which will be in 

place until April 2016.  The Company may make drawdowns on the facility in various currencies.  The 

credit facility bears interest at the level of the bank’s usual interest for credit with characteristics 

similar to the relevant credit, with the addition of a prescribed margin.  The credit facility has no 

linkage mechanism.  The credit facility is secured by a lien on some of the EQY shares owned by the 

Company, which constitutes the Company’s control core in EQY (with the quantity of the shares 

pledged to the bank not to fall below 20% (on a fully diluted basis) of EQY’s issued and paid-up share 

capital), as well as on all the Company’s holdings in GAA, which also holds shares in EQY.  

The credit facility agreement includes principal financial covenants, the main ones of which are set 

forth below.  Non-compliance with these covenants will constitute cause for the credit’s immediate 

repayment (the Company was in compliance with all such covenants, both as of December 31, 2010 

and also as of September 30, 2011).  

 

 



7.1 The equity attributable to the Company’s equity holders, according to the Company’s 

consolidated financial statements, is to be maintained above NIS 3.5 billion.  For details 

regarding the aforesaid equity as of December 31, 2010 and as of September 30, 2011, refer to 

section 4.2 above;  

7.2 The ratio of the dividend on the pledged EQY shares to the actual interest payments with respect 

to the utilized debt is not to fall below 1.25, during three consecutive quarters.  As of September 

30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 4.50;  

7.3 The ratio of the proportionate part of the interest-bearing debt of EQY and GAA, according to 

the percentage of EQY shares and GAA shares pledged to the bank plus the utilized debt, to the 

proportionate part of the value of the properties of EQY and GAA (which is also calculated 

according to the percentage of EQY shares and GAA shares pledged to the bank) is not to 

exceed 85.2%.  As of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 56.1%;  

7.4     If the following two covenants are breached: (a) the ratio of EQY’s net interest-bearing debt,  

         plus the leverage reflecting the utilized debt pursuant to the credit facility, to EQY’s EBITDA, is  

         not to exceed 14 (as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 9.3); and (b) the ratio of  

         EQY’s net interest-bearing debt, plus the utilized debt pursuant to the credit facility, to the total  

         of EQY’s NOI is not to exceed 13 (as of September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 8.1); 

7.5 The ratio of EBITDA to EQY’s finance expenses is not to fall below 1.65.  As of September 30, 

2011, the aforesaid ratio was 2.1;  

7.6 The ratio of the net interest-bearing liabilities to the Company’s consolidated total assets is not to 

exceed 75%.  For details regarding the aforesaid ratio as of September 30, 2011, refer to section 

6.2 above;  

7.7 The ratio of the Company’s net interest-bearing liabilities (on an “expanded stand-alone” basis) 

to the value of its holdings (on an equity method basis) is not to exceed 77.5%.  For details 

regarding the aforesaid ratio as of September 30, 2011, refer to section 6.3 above;  

7.8 The ratio of the utilized debt pursuant to the credit facility to the value of the shares of EQY and 

GAA (calculated according to the average of the market value and net asset value (NAV)), with 

GAA’s NAV being solely in relation to its property activities, is not to exceed 70%.  As of 

September 30, 2011, the aforesaid ratio was 24.9;  

7.9 The ratio of the utilized debt to the market value of the EQY shares (based on their quoted price 

averaged over a number of trading days) is not to exceed 85%.  As of September 30, 2011, the 

aforesaid ratio was 28.5%.  

 



Moreover, the agreement also contains other normal terms (including some relating to EQY) regarding 

the circumstances under which the credit will become immediate repayable.  These terms include: a 

change in the control of the Company, EQY or GAA, certain material legal proceedings (including 

those associated with liquidation, receivership, assets sale proceedings and execution), cessation of 

trading in the shares of the Company, EQY or GAA, a cross-default according to certain thresholds 

and conditions, and so forth.  

Utilization of the credit facility by the Company is subject to the ratio between the utilized debt and the 

average value of the collateral (whose value is determined according to the calculation method 

prescribed in section 7.8 above) not exceeding 0.6.  

Update to Section 20.7 – Financial covenants  

Within the context of the Company having entered into an updated financing agreement with a bank that had 

granted it a credit facility, several of the financial covenants were updated during the Reporting Period, as 

detailed in the Update to Section 20 – Financing above.  

In addition, within the framework of the offering of the series K debentures, the following financial 

covenants were stipulated:  

1. The Company’s equity (net of non-controlling interests) is not to fall below a NIS amount equivalent 

of U.S.$ 500 million, during four consecutive quarters.  

2. The ratio of the Company’s consolidated net interest-bearing debt to the Company’s consolidated total 

assets is not to exceed a rate of 80%, during four consecutive quarters.  Moreover, the rating of the 

debentures on the date of measuring the aforesaid ratio with respect to the last of the four quarters 

referred to above is not to be lower than an S&P Maalot rating of (BBB-) and a Midroog rating of 

Baa3.  

Update to Section 21 – Taxation  

For details regarding the Legislative Memorandum for Socio-Economic Change (Legislative Amendments) 

(Taxation), 2011 published in November 2011, which prescribes, inter alia, raising corporate tax to 25% in 

2012, refer to note 4.l of the financial statements.  

Update to Section 24.3 – Shareholders’ agreement with Alony-Hetz with regard to EQY 

The shareholders’ agreement signed on January 9, 2011, between the Company and wholly owned 

subsidiaries on the one part and the Alony-Hetz group on the other, expired on June 26, 2011.  The 

agreement expired since the holdings of the Alony-Hetz group fell below 3% of EQY’s issued share capital 

(on a fully diluted basis) for a period of 90 consecutive days.  

 

 



Update to Section 25 – Legal proceedings  

For details regarding a compromise agreement between the Company, ATR and Meinl Bank AG and other 

parties, which has been signed and has taken effect, , refer to note 4.a of the financial statements.  



Disclosure Concerning Very Material Properties Pursuant to Chapter F of the Disclosure Guideline 

Regarding Investment Property Activity 

G Kfar Saba 

 Quarter 1 2011 As of December 31, 2010 and 

for the year then ended 

Building A Building B Building A Building B 

Value of property (NIS in 000’s) 610,600 106,500 605,400 105,700 

NOI in the period (NIS in 000’s) ** 11,766 N/R 40,329  - 

Revaluation gains (losses)in the period (NIS in 000’s) 1,787 120 12,609 6,810 

Average occupancy rate in the period 99% N/R 94%  - 

Rate of return (%) * 7.3% N/R 6.7%  - 

Average annual rental per sq. meter (NIS) 1,535 N/R 1,417  - 

Average annual rental per sq. meter in leases signed in 

the period (NIS) 1,764  - 2,364  - 

 

G ONE 

 Quarter 1 2011 As of December 31, 2010 

and for the year then ended 

Value of property (NIS in 000’s) 

Building rights and other adjustments (NIS in 000’s) 

261,400 

23,200 

259,200 

23,200 

NOI in the period (NIS in 000’s) 4,966 18,354 

Revaluation gains (losses)in the period (NIS in 000’s) 4,012 12,341 

Average occupancy rate in the period 99% 99% 

Rate of return (%) * 7.2% 7.1% 

Average annual rental per sq. meter (NIS) 775 727 

Average annual rental per sq. meter in leases signed in 

the period (NIS)  - 1,112 

 

G TWO 

 Quarter 1 2011 As of December 31, 2010 

and for the year then ended 

Value of property (NIS in 000’s) 

Land reserve and building rights (NIS in 000’s) 

231,000 

47,800 

229,000 

47,800 

NOI in the period (NIS in 000’s) 4,486 17,298 

Revaluation gains (losses)in the period (NIS in 000’s) 1,846 14,494 

Average occupancy rate in the period 100% 100% 

Rate of return (%) * 7.6% 7.5% 

Average annual rental per sq. meter (NIS) 826 804 

Average annual rental per sq. meter in leases signed in 

the period (NIS) 1,483 1,467 

 



G CINEMA CITY 

 Quarter 1 2011 As of December 31, 2010 

and for the year then ended 

Value of property (NIS in 000’s) 

Building rights (NIS in 000’s) 

382,500 

4,000 

379,300 

4,000 

NOI in the period (NIS in 000’s) 7,148 19,015 

Revaluation gains (losses)in the period (NIS in 000’s) 1,983 57,278 

Average occupancy rate in the period 100% 97% 

Rate of return (%) * 7.0% 6.7% 

Average annual rental per sq. meter (NIS) 1,328 1,220 

Average annual rental per sq. meter in leases signed in 

the period (NIS)  - 1,585 
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Auditors' review report to the shareholders of Gazit-Globe Ltd. 

 

 

Introduction 

 

We have reviewed the accompanying financial information of Gazit-Globe Ltd. and its subsidiaries ("the 

Group"), which comprises the condensed consolidated statement of financial position as of March 31, 2011 

and the related condensed consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and 

cash flows for the three months then ended. The Company's board of directors and management are 

responsible for the preparation and presentation of interim financial information for this interim period in 

accordance with IAS 34, "Interim Financial Reporting" and are responsible for the preparation of this interim 

financial information in accordance with Chapter D of the Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate 

Reports), 1970. Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on this interim financial information based on 

our review. 
 

We did not review the condensed interim financial information of certain subsidiaries, whose assets 

constitute approximately 40% of total consolidated assets as of March 31, 2011, and whose revenues 

constitute approximately 39% of total consolidated revenues for the three months then ended. The condensed 

interim financial information of those companies was reviewed by other auditors, whose review reports have 

been furnished to us, and our conclusion, insofar as it relates to the financial information in respect of those 

companies, is based on the review reports of the other auditors. 

 

 

Scope of review 

 

We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard 1 of the Institute of Certified Public 

Accountants in Israel, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of 

the Entity." A review of interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons 

responsible for financial and accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures. A 

review is substantially less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing 

standards in Israel and consequently does not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of 

all significant matters that might be identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion. 
 

 

Conclusion 

 

Based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes 

us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information is not prepared, in all material respects, in 

accordance with IAS 34. 

 

In addition to the abovementioned, based on our review and the review reports of other auditors, nothing has 

come to our attention that causes us to believe that the accompanying interim financial information does not 

comply, in all material respects, with the disclosure requirements of Chapter D of the Securities Regulations 

(Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. 
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Without qualifying our opinion, we hereby draw your attention to Note 2d to the financial statements, on the 

restatements of the financial statements in order to retroactively reflect the correction of an error in the 

financial statements of a subsidiary as to the measurement of the fair value of non controlling interests in 

business combinations. 

 

This review is based on the review of the interim financial information for said periods, which was rendered 

on May 22, 2011.  

 

 

 

 

Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER 
 December 4, 2011 A Member of Ernst & Young Global 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

 

 

  March 31,  December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

ASSETS      

     

CURRENT ASSETS:     

       

  Cash and cash equivalents  1,356  1,580 1,321 

  Short-term investments and loans   245  305 312 

  Available-for-sale financial assets  56  123 42 

  Financial derivatives  105  74 111 

  Trade receivables  392  280 344 

  Other accounts receivable  345  300 245 

  Inventory of buildings and apartments for sale  473  395 383 

  Current tax receivable  37  24 73 

      

  3,009  3,081 2,831 

      

Assets classified as held for sale  830  112 251 

      

  3,839  3,193 3,082 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS:      

      

  Investments in associates  131  44 117 

  Other investments, loans and receivables  **)     238  180 231 

  Available-for-sale financial assets  202  144 218 

  Financial derivatives   1,012  838 1,087 

  Investment property  **) 47,220  41,923 43,634 

  Investment property under development  3,148  2,872 3,296 

  Non-current inventory   18  18 17 

  Fixed assets, net  626  695 633 

  Goodwill  *)    143  171 119 

  Other intangible assets, net  13  18 17 

  Deferred taxes  83  81 99 

      

  52,834  46,984 49,468 

      

  56,673  50,177 52,550 

 

*) Restated, see Note 2d. 

**) Retroactively adjusted, see Note 2d. 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION    

 

  March 31,  December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY      
     
CURRENT LIABILITIES     
 Credit from banks and others  189  311 242 
 Current maturities of non-current liabilities  2,921  2,128 3,043 
 Financial derivatives  20  20 37 
 Trade payables  517  458 515 
 Other accounts payable  **)    984  1,008 939 
 Advances from customers and buyers of apartments  98  83 80 
 Current tax payable  51  51 38 
 Dividend payable  60  51 57 

      
  4,840  4,110 4,951 
      
 Liabilities attributable to assets held for sale  298  - 43 

      
  **) 5,138  4,110 4,994 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES      
 Debentures  15,174  13,843 14,255 
 Convertible debentures   753  850 788 
 Interest-bearing loans from financial institutions and others  16,737  16,047 14,969 
 Financial derivatives   89  284 128 
 Other financial liabilities  240  180 214 
 Employee benefit liability, net  4  4 4 
 Deferred taxes   **) 2,205  1,618 2,029 

      
  35,202  32,826 32,387 

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE 
 COMPANY      
 Share capital  208  192 208 
 Share premium  3,481  2,852 3,474 
 Retained earnings  3,271  2,919 3,348 
 Foreign currency translation reserve  (1,140)  (889) (1,312) 
 Other reserves  248  54 222 
 Loans granted to purchase shares of the Company  (4)  (4) (4) 
 Treasury shares  (21)  (21) (21) 

      
  6,043  5,103 5,915 
      
   Non-controlling interests   *) 10,290  8,138 9,254 

      
Total equity   *) 16,333  13,241 15,169 

      
  56,673  50,177 52,550 

*) Restated, see Note 2d. 

**) Retroactively adjusted, see Note 2d. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 

 

December 4, 2011       

Date of approval of the 

financial statements  

Chaim Katzman 

Chairman of the Board  

Aharon Soffer   

President  

Gadi Cunia Executive 

Vice President and CFO 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME 
 

 

  Three months ended 
March 31,  

 Year ended 
December 31,  

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions (except per share amounts) 

       
Rental income  1,268  1,138  4,596 
Revenues from sale of buildings, land and contractual 

works performed  177  156  691 

       
Total revenues  1,445  1,294  5,287 

       
Property operating expenses  442  408  1,551 
Cost of buildings sold, land and contractual works 

performed  165  145  622 

       
Total cost of revenues  607  553  2,173 

       
Gross profit  838  741  3,114 

       
Fair value gain (loss) from investment property and 

investment property under development, net  69  (46)  1,017 
General and administrative expenses  (174)  (163)  (663) 
Other income  *)     70  22  13 
Other expenses  (3)  (1)  (48) 
Group's share in earnings (losses) of associates, net  (6)  **)     -  2 

       
Operating income   *)  794  553  3,435 
       
Finance expenses  (591)  (369)  (1,869) 
Finance income  53  216  569 
Decrease in value of financial investments   (5)  -  (18) 

       
Profit before taxes on income  314  400  2,117 
Taxes on income   62  83  509 

       
Net income   *)  189  317  1,608 

       
Attributable to:       
       
Equity holders of the Company  (17)  218  790 
Non-controlling interests  *)  206  99  818 

       
  189  317  1,608 

Net earnings (loss) per share attributable to equity holders 
of the Company (NIS):        

       
Basic net earnings (loss)   (0.11)  1.57  5.59 

       
Diluted net earnings (loss)   (0.11)  1.56  5.57 

*) Restated, see Note 2d. 

**) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

 

 

  Three months ended 

March 31,  

 Year ended 

December 31,  

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions  

       

Net income   *)  189  317  1,608 

       

Other comprehensive income (loss) (net of tax effect):       

       

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  225  (476)  (1,272) 

Net gains (losses) on cash flow hedges  71  (25)  49 

Net gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial assets  (14)  (1)  12 

Gain (loss) on revaluation of fixed assets  (1)  (1)  17 

       

Total other comprehensive income (loss)  281  (503)  (1,194) 

       

Total comprehensive income (loss)  *)  470  (186)  414 

       

 

Attributable to:       

       

Equity holders of the Company **)  179  (81)  139 

Non-controlling interests  *)  291  (105)  275 

       

  470  (186)  414 

*) Restated, see Note 2d. 

 

**) Composition of comprehensive income (loss) attributable  

 to equity holders of the Company: 

 

       

Net income (loss)  (17)  218  790 

Exchange differences on translation of foreign 

operations  172  (289)  (712) 

Net gains (losses) on cash flow hedges  35  (6)  41 

Net gains (losses) on available-for-sale financial 

assets  (10)  (2)  3 

Gain (loss) on revaluation of fixed assets  (1)  (2)  17 

       

  179  (81)  139 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
    

  Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company    

  
Share 
capital  

Share 
premium  

Retained 
earnings  

Adjustments 
from 

translation of 
financial 

statements  
Other 

reserves   

Loans 
granted to 
purchase  

shares  
Treasury 

shares  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interests  Total equity 

  Unaudited 

  NIS in millions 

                     
Balance as of January 1, 2011 (audited)  208 3,474 3,348 (1,312) 222 (4) (21) 5,915 9,254 15,169 
            
Net income (loss)  - - (17) - - - - (17) **)       206 **)      189 
Other comprehensive income   - - - 172 24 - - 196 85 281 

            
Total comprehensive income (loss)  - - (17) 172 24 - - 179 **)      291 **)      470 
            
Exercise of share options into Company's shares   *)    - 7 - - (5) - - 2 - 2 
Revaluation of  loans to purchase shares  - - *)     - - - *)    - - - - - 
Realization of fixed assets revaluation reserve and initially 

consolidated investment revaluation reserve   - - *)     - - *)     - - - - - - 
Cost of share-based payment  - - -  2 - - 2 11 13 
Dividend to equity holders of the Company  - - (60) - - - - (60) - (60) 
Capital issuance to non-controlling interests   - - - - 16 - - 16 250 266 
Non-controlling interests in initially consolidated company  - - - - - - - - **)       742 **)       742 
Acquisition of  non-controlling interests   - - - - (11) - - (11) (121) (132) 
Conversion and repurchase of convertible debentures in 

investees  - - - - - - - - (1) (1) 
Dividend to non-controlling interests  - - - - - - - - (136) (136) 

            
Balance as of March 31, 2011   208 3,481 3,271 (1,140) 248 (4) (21) 6,043 **)  10,290 **)  16,333 

 

*) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

**) Restated, see Note 2d. 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 

 
  Attributable to equity holders of the Company     

  

Share 

capital 

 

Share 

premium  

Retained 

earnings 

 Foreign 
currency 

translation 

adjustments  

 

Other 

reserves  

Less - 
loans to 

purchase  

shares  

Treasury 

shares  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interests  

Total 

equity 

  Unaudited 

  NIS in millions 

                     
Balance as of January 1, 2010 (audited)  192  2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266 
            
Net income  -  - 218 - - - - 218 99 317 
Other comprehensive loss  -  - - (289) (10) - - (299) (204) (503) 

             
Total comprehensive income (loss)  -  - 218 (289) (10) - - (81) (105) (186) 

             
Revaluation of loans to purchase shares  *)    -  4 - - (3) - - 1 - 1 
Repayment of loans to purchase shares  -  - *)    - - - *)    - - - - - 
Reversal of fixed assets revaluation reserve and of revaluation 
reserve of initially consolidated investment 

 
-  - - - - *)    - - *)    - - *)    - 

Cost of share-based payment  -  - 1 - (1) - - - - - 
Dividend declared  -  - - - 3 - - 3 5 8 
Issuance of share capital to non-controlling interests  -  - (51) - - - - (51) - (51) 
Acquisition of shares from non-controlling interests  -  - - *)      - 42 - - 42 407 449 
Acquisition of convertible debentures in subsidiaries  -  - - - - - - - (61) (61) 
Dividend to non-controlling interests  -  - - - - - - - (2) (2) 

  -  - - - - - - - (183) (183) 

            
Balance as of March 31, 2010   192  2,852 2,919 (889) 54 (4) (21) 5,103 8,138 13,241 

    

    

* ) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

 
    

  Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company    

  
Share 
capital  

Share 
premium  

Retained 
earnings  

Adjustments 
from 

translation of 
financial 

statements  
Other 

reserves   

Loans 
granted to 
purchase  

shares  
Treasury 

shares  Total  

Non-
controlling 

interests  Total equity 

  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

                     
Balance as of January 1, 2010  192 2,848 2,751 (600) 23 (4) (21) 5,189 8,077 13,266 

            
Net income   - - 790 - - - - 790 818 1,608 
Other comprehensive income (loss)   - - - (712) 61 - - (651) (543) (1,194) 

            
Total comprehensive income (loss)  - - 790 (712) 61 - - 139 275 414 
            
Issue of shares net of issue expenses amounting  to NIS 13 

million  16 621 - - - - - 637 - 637 
Exercise of share options into Company's shares   *)   - 5 - - (4) - - 1 - 1 
Revaluation of  loans to purchase shares  - - *)   - - - *)   - - - - - 
Repayment of  loans to purchase shares  - - - - - *)   - - *)   - - *)   - 
Waiver of salary by controlling shareholder, net   - - - - 36 - - 36 - 36 
Realization of fixed assets revaluation reserve and initially 

consolidated investment revaluation reserve   - - 18 - (18) - - - - - 
Cost of share-based payment  - - - - 13 - - 13 40 53 
Dividend to equity holders of the Company  - - (211) - - - - (211) - (211) 
Capital issuance to non-controlling interests   - - - - 114 - - 114 1,437 1,551 
Acquisition of  non-controlling interests   - - - - (3) - - (3) (75) (78) 
Purchase of convertible debentures in subsidiaries  - - - - - - - - (6) (6) 
Dividend to non-controlling interests  - - - - - - - - (494) (494) 

            
Balance as of December 31, 2010  208 3,474 3,348 (1,312) 222 (4) (21) 5,915 9,254 15,169 

 

*) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

  Three months ended 
March 31,  

 Year ended 
December 31,  

  2011    2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions  

Cash flows from operating activities:       
Net income   **)    189  317  1,608 

       
Adjustments required to present net cash provided by 

operating activities:       
       

Adjustments to the profit or loss items:       
       

Finance expenses, net  538  153  1,300 
Group's share in losses (earnings) of associates, net  6  *)     -  (2) 
Fair value gain (loss) from investment property and 

investment property under development, net  (69)  46  (1,017) 
Depreciation and amortization of fixed and intangible 

assets (including impairment of goodwill)  11  28  80 
Taxes on income (tax benefit)  62  83  509 
Impairment of financial assets  5  -  18 
Capital gain, net  (1)  (17)  (13) 
Change in employee benefit liability  -  *)     -  (1) 
Loss (gain) from issuance of shares by investees  (30)  -  4 
Gain from bargain purchase  **)     -  -  - 
Cost of share-based payment  13  8  53 

       
  535  301  931 

Changes in assets and liabilities items:       
       

Increase in trade receivables and other accounts 
receivable  (71)  (76)  (141) 

Decrease (increase) in inventories of buildings and 
land less advances from customers and buyers of 
apartments, net   (17)  16  51 

Increase (decrease) in trade and other accounts 
payable  112  (33)  21 
Increase in tenants' security deposits, net  4  2  6 

       
  28  (91)  (63) 

       
Net cash provided by operating activities before interest, 

dividend and taxes  752  527  2,476 

       
Cash received and paid during the period for:       

Interest paid  (435)  (448)  (1,815) 
Interest received  10  28  174 
Dividend received  1  *)     -  12 
Taxes paid  (13)  (19)  (65) 
Taxes received  27  -  - 

       
  (410)  (439)  (1,694) 

       
Net cash provided by operating activities  342  88  782 

 

*) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

**) Restated, see Note 2d. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

  Three months ended 
March 31,  

 Year ended 
December 31,  

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions  

Cash flows from investing activities:       
       
Acquisition of initially consolidated subsidiaries (a)  92  -  - 
Proceeds from realization of consolidated subsidiary (b)  11  -  - 
Investment in associates   -  -  (9) 
Acquisition, construction and development of investment 

property  (1,214)  (910)  (3,550) 
Investments in fixed assets  (4)  (3)  (24) 
Proceeds from sale of investment property, investment 

property under development and land  26  715  988 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets  13  -  55 
Grant of long-term loans  (21)  (2)  (121) 
Collection of long-term loans   18  -  26 
Short-term investments, net  51  (30)  (39) 
Investment in available-for-sale financial assets  (21)  (48)  (422) 
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale financial assets  -  96  478 

       
Net cash used in investing activities  (1,049)  (182)  (2,618) 

       
Cash flows from financing activities:       
       
Issue of shares (net of issue expenses)  -  -  637 
Repayment of loans granted for purchase of Company's 

shares  -  *)        -  *)       - 
Exercise of share options into Company's shares   2  1  1 
Issue of shares to non-controlling interests   37  400  1,516 

 Increase in the parent's ownership in subsidiaries  (132)  (53)  (78) 
Dividend paid to equity holders of the Company  (57)  (50)  (204) 
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests  (117)  (88)  (460) 
Receipt of long-term loans  719  290  1,280 
Repayment of long-term loans  (990)  (624)  (3,972) 
Receipt (repayment) of long-term credit facilities from 

banks, net  807  (225)  1,103 
Repayment and early redemption of debentures and 

convertible debentures  (457)  (313)  (653) 
Short-term credit from banks and others, net  (35)  (280)  (75) 
Issue of debentures and convertible debentures, net  955  639  2,192 

       
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities  732  (303)  1,287 

       
Exchange differences on balances of cash and cash 

equivalents  10  (41)  (121) 

       
Decrease due to held-for-sale classification  -  -  (27) 

       
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  35  (438)  (697) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period  1,321  2,018  2,018 

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period  1,356  1,580  1,321 

 

*) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

 

   Three months ended 

March 31,  

 Year ended 

December 31, 

   2011  2010  2010 

   Unaudited  Audited 

   NIS in millions  

(a) Acquisition of initially consolidated subsidiary 

(Note 3a):       

       

 Working capital (excluding cash and cash 

equivalents):      

 Current assets  (14) -  - 

 Assets classified as held for sale  (465) -  - 

 Current liabilities  **)       311 -  - 

       

   (168) -  - 

       

 Investment property and other non-current assets  **)  (1,791) -  - 

 Non-current liabilities  **)   1,066 -  - 

 Issue of shares to non-controlling interests in EQY  265 -  - 

 Non-controlling interests in CapCo  **)      742 -  - 

 Goodwill  **)       (22) -  - 

       

 Cash and cash equivalents acquired  92 -  - 

       

(b) Proceeds from realization of consolidated subsidiary 

(Note 3g):      

       

 Working capital (excluding cash and cash 

equivalents):  (3) -  - 

 Investment accounted for according to the equity 

method  (9) -  - 

 Share options in consolidated company  ***)         - -  - 

 Advances on account of shares in subsidiary  (7) -  - 

 Gain from issuance of shares by investee  30 -  - 

       

   11 -  - 

(c) Significant non-cash transactions:      

       

 Conversion of debentures into subsidiary's shares  ***)        - -  - 

       

 Acquisition of initially consolidated subsidiary in 

consideration for an issuance of shares by other 

subsidiary (Note 3a)  265 37  37 

       

 Dividend payable  60 51  57 
 

*)  Restated, see Note 2d. 

**)  Retroactively adjusted, see Note 2d. 

***) Represents an amount of less than NIS 1 million. 

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these interim consolidated financial statements. 
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NOTE 1:- GENERAL 
 

a. These condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in a 

condensed format as of March 31, 2011 and for the three months then ended ("condensed 

interim consolidated financial statements"). These condensed interim consolidated 

financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's annual financial 

statements as of December 31, 2010 and for the year then ended and accompanying notes 

("annual financial statements"). 

 

For the restatement of the interim consolidated financial statements, see Note 2d. 
 

 

b. As of March 31, 2011, the Group has a working capital deficiency of New Israeli Shekels 

("NIS") 1,299 million. The Group has unused approved lines of credit in the amount of 

NIS 3.6 billion that can be used over the coming year. Furthermore, subsequent to the 

balance sheet date the group companies raised capital and long-term debt, see Note 4b, 4c 

and 4g. In addition, as of the balance sheet date, the Group has unencumbered investment 

property presented in the condensed interim consolidated financial statements at its fair 

value of NIS 28.2 billion. The Company's management believes that these sources, as 

well as the positive cash flow generated from operating activities, will allow each of the 

Group's companies to repay their current liabilities when due. 

 

 

NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

a. Basis of preparation of the interim consolidated financial statements: 

 

The condensed interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for the preparation of financial 

statements for interim periods, as prescribed in IAS 34, "Interim Financial Reporting", 

and in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Chapter D of the Israeli Securities 

Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970. 
 

The significant accounting policies and methods of computation adopted in the 

preparation of the condensed interim consolidated financial statements are consistent with 

those followed in the preparation of the annual financial statements, except for the noted 

below: 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

b. Initial adoption of new IFRS: 
 

IFRS 3 (Revised) - Business Combinations 
 

The amendments to IFRS 3 (Revised) involve the following issuances:  
 

1. Measurement of non-controlling interests 

 

The amendment restricts those cases where a choice is available as to measurement 

of non-controlling interest at fair value upon the acquisition date, or pro-rata to 

identified assets, net of the acquired entity. In accordance with the amendment, this 

choice is only available for types of non-controlling interest which confer on their 

holders' ownership right and the right to receive pro-rata net assets of the acquired 

entity upon dissolution (usually - shares). On the other hand, other types of non-

controlling interest (such as options which are an equity instrument in the acquired 

entity) do not afford this choice, and are therefore to be measured at fair value upon 

acquisition, except in cases of other measurement provisions stipulated by other 

IFRS, such as IFRS 2. The amendment shall be applied retroactively from the date 

of initial application of IFRS 3 (Revised), meaning January 1, 2010.  

 

The amendment did not have material effect on the interim financial statements. 

 

2. Share-based payment grants in conjunction with business combination 
 

The amendment stipulates the required accounting treatment in conjunction with a 

business combination, with respect to replacement of share-based payment 

transactions of the acquired entity (whether it is required to make this swap or 

chooses to do so) with share-based payment transactions of the acquiring entity. 

Accordingly, the acquiring entity should attribute an amount to transaction 

proceeds upon the acquisition date, and an amount to expenses in the period 

subsequent to the acquisition date. However, if the grant expires due to the 

business combination and is replaced by a new grant, then the value of the new 

grant in accordance with IFRS 2 shall be recognized as an expense in the period 

subsequent to the acquisition date, and shall not be included in consideration for 

the acquisition. Furthermore, if share-based payment grants are not replaced, then 

if the instruments have vested, they constitute part of the non-controlling interest 

and are measured in accordance with provisions of IFRS 2; if the instruments have 

yet to vest, they are measured at the value which would have been used had they 

been re-granted upon the acquisition date, with this amount allocated to non-

controlling interest and to expenses subsequent to the acquisition date. The 

amendment is effective for financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 

2011. The amendment is applied retroactively from the date of initial application of 

IFRS 3, meaning January 1, 2010.  

 

The amendment did not have material effect on the interim financial statements. 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

3. Transition provisions for accounting for contingent consideration in a business 

combination that occurred prior to the adoption of IFRS 3 (Revised) 

 

According to the amendment, the amendments to IFRS 7, IAS 32 and IAS 39 

which prescribe that contingent consideration in a business combination is within 

the scope of these Standards, do not apply to contingent consideration in respect of 

a business combination whose acquisition date preceded the date of adoption of 

IFRS 3 (Revised). As for the contingent consideration described above, the 

provisions of IFRS 3 (Revised) prior to its amendment will continue to apply. The 

amendment has been applied retrospectively from January 1, 2011. 

 

The amendment did not have material effect on the interim financial statements. 

 

IAS 1 - Presentation of Financial Statements 
 

In accordance with the amendment, movement between the opening and closing balance 

for each component of other comprehensive income may be presented on the statement of 

changes to equity or in notes to the annual financial statements. The Company chose to 

present the aforementioned information in the Notes. 

 

The amendment is applied retrospectively to financial statements for periods starting on 

January 1, 2011.  

 

IAS 24 - Related Party Transactions  

 

The amendment clarifies the definition of a related party. The new definitions emphasis a 

symmetrical view of related party relationships as well as clarifying in which 

circumstances persons and key management personnel affect related party relationships 

of an entity. The amendment has been applied at January 1, 2011 retrospectively to all 

periods presented.  

 

IAS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) 

 

The amendment alerts the definition of a financial liability in IAS 32 to enable entities to 

classify rights issues and certain options or warrants as equity instrument. The 

amendment is applicable if the rights are given pro rata to all of the existing owners of the 

same lass of an entity's non-derivative equity instruments, to acquire a fixed number of 

the entity's own equity instrument for a fixed amount in any currency. The amendment 

has been applied at January 1, 2011 retrospectively to all periods presented.  
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting 
 

The amendment to IAS 34 stipulates further disclosure requirements on interim financial 

statements with regard to circumstances likely to impact the fair value and classification 

of financial instruments, transfer of financial instruments between different levels of fair 

value measurement, and changes in classification of financial assets. The amendment has 

been applied retrospectively to financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 

2011.  
 

The required disclosures are included on the Company's financial statements. 
 

 

c. New IFRS Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective: 

 

In May 2011, the IASB issued four new Standards: IFRS 10, "Consolidated Financial 

Statements", IFRS 11, "Joint Arrangements", IFRS 12, "Disclosure of Interests in Other 

Entities" ("the new Standards") and IFRS 13, "Fair Value Measurement", and amended 

two existing Standards, IAS 27R (Revised 2011), "Separate Financial Statements", and 

IAS 28R (Revised 2011), "Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures". 

 

The new Standards are to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual 

periods commencing on January 1, 2013 or thereafter. Earlier application is permitted. 

However, if the Company chooses earlier application, it must adopt all the new Standards 

as a package (excluding the disclosure requirements of IFRS 12 which may be adopted 

separately). The Standards prescribe transition provisions with certain modifications upon 

initial adoption. 

 

The main provisions of the Standards and their expected effects on the Company are as 

follows: 

 

IFRS 10 - Consolidated Financial Statements 

 

IFRS 10 supersedes IAS 27 regarding the accounting treatment of consolidated financial 

statements and includes the accounting treatment for the consolidation of structured 

entities previously accounted for under SIC 12, "Consolidation - Special Purpose 

Entities". 

 

IFRS 10 does not prescribe changes to the consolidation procedures but rather modifies 

the definition of control for the purpose of consolidation and introduces a single 

consolidation model. According to IFRS 10, in order for an investor to control an 

investee, the investor must have power over the investee and exposure, or rights, to 

variable returns from the investee. An investor has power over an investee when the 

investor has existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities 

that significantly affect the investee's returns. 

 

According to IFRS 10, when assessing the existence of control, potential voting rights 

should be considered only if they are substantive i.e, the holder must have the practical 

ability to exercise that rights. 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

IFRS 10 also prescribes that an investor may have control even if it holds less than a 

majority of the investee's voting rights (de facto control),  provided it is sufficient to give 

it power when the investor has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 

unilaterally. 

 

IFRS 10 is to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual periods 

commencing on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company is evaluating the possible impact of the adoption of IFRS 10 but is 

presently unable to assess the impact, if any, on its financial statements. 

 

IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements 

 

IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31 regarding the accounting treatment of interests in joint 

ventures and SIC 13 regarding the interpretation of the accounting treatment of non-

monetary contributions by venturers. 

 

IFRS 11 defines joint arrangements as contractual arrangements over which two or more 

parties have joint control. 

 

IFRS 11 distinguishes between two types of joint arrangements: 

 

- Joint ventures in which the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have 

rights to the net assets of the arrangement. IFRS 11 requires joint ventures to be 

accounted for solely by using the equity method. 

 

- Joint operations in which the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have   

rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the arrangement. 

IFRS 11 requires the joint operator to recognize a joint operation's assets, 

liabilities, revenues and expenses in proportion to its relative share of the joint 

operation as determined in the joint arrangement, similar to the current accounting 

treatment for proportionate consolidation. 

 

IFRS 11 is to be applied retrospectively in financial statements for annual periods 

commencing on January 1, 2013, or thereafter. 

 

The Company is evaluating the possible impact of the adoption of IFRS 11 but is 

presently unable to assess the impact, if any, on its financial statements. 

 

IAS 28R - Investments in Associates 

 

IAS 28R supersedes IAS 28. The principal changes in IAS 28R compared to IAS 28 

relate to the application of the equity method of accounting for investments in joint 

ventures, as a result of the issuance of IFRS 11, and the guidance for transition from 

proportionate consolidation to the equity method of accounting for these investments. 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

IFRS 12 - Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 

 

IFRS 12 prescribes disclosure requirements for the Company's interests in other entities, 

including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and structured entities. IFRS 12 

expands the disclosure requirements to include the  

nature of, and risks associated with, its interests in other entities; and the effects of those 

interests on its financial position, financial performance and cash flows. 

 

The required disclosures will be included in the Company's financial statements upon 

initial adoption of IFRS 12 on or before the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013.    

 

IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement 

 

IFRS 13 establishes guidance for the measurement of fair value, to the extent that such 

measurement is required according to IFRS. IFRS 13 defines fair value as the price that 

would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction in 

the principal (or most advantageous) market at the measurement date. Under current 

market conditions (i.e., an exit price) regardless of whether that price is directly 

observable or estimated using another valuation technique. IFRS 13 also specifies the 

characteristics of market participants and determines that fair value is based on the 

assumptions that would have been used by market participants. 

 

IFRS 13 requires an entity to maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and 

minimize the use of unobservable inputs. IFRS 13 also includes a fair value hierarchy 

based on the inputs used to determine fair value as follows: 

 

Level 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted market prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. 

 

Level 3 - unobservable inputs (valuation techniques that do not make use of observable 

inputs). 

 

IFRS 13 also prescribes certain specific disclosure requirements. 

 

The new disclosures, and the measurement of assets and liabilities pursuant to IFRS 13, 

are to be applied prospectively for annual periods commencing on January 1, 2013. 

Earlier application is permitted. The new disclosures will not be required comparative 

data. 

 

The Company is evaluating the possible impact of the adoption of IFRS 13 but is 

presently unable to assess the impact, if any, on its financial statements. 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

d. Restatement: 

 

The financial statements as of March 31, 2011 and for the three months ended on that 

date have been restated as the result of correcting an error in the financial statements of a 

subsidiary - EQY, within the context of which a reduction in the amount of NIS 63 

million was made in the gain from bargain purchase against a goodwill recognition in the 

Company level attributable to the equity holders of the Company in the amount of NIS 32 

million, against an increase in non-controlling interests. The error arose due to a mistake 

in the calculation of the fair value of the consideration issued to the LIH in the form of 

non controlling interest in EQY (refer to Note 3a below).  

 

In addition, following the updating of the measurement of the fair value of the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of CapCo in the measurement period, as permitted pursuant to the 

provisions of IFRS 3, EQY updated the provisional amounts allocated to the identifiable 

assets and liabilities of CapCo by a net amount of NIS 10 million, as detailed in the tables 

presented below, in the column headed "Measurement period adjustment". 

 

The effect of the changes on the interim consolidated financial statements is as follows:  

 

In the statement of financial position 

 

  As of March 31, 2011  

 

 As 

previously 

reported 

 

Re-

statement 

 Measurement 

period 

adjustment 

 

After re-

statement 

  Unaudited 

  NIS in millions 

         

Other non-current 

investments 

 

231 - 7 238 

Investment property  47,206 - 14 47,220 

Goodwill  121 32 (10) 143 

Accounts payable  (975) - (9) (984) 

Deferred taxes  (2,203) - (2) (2,205) 

Equity attributable to equity 

holders of the Company 

 

(6,043) - - (6,043) 

Non-controlling interests  (10,258) (32) - (10,290) 

Total equity  (16,301) (32) - (16,333) 
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NOTE 2:- SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont.) 

 

 In the statement of income 

 

 

 For the Three months ended 

March 31, 2011 

 

 As 

previously 

reported 

 

Re-

statement 

 Measurement 

period 

adjustment 

 

After re-

statement 

  Unaudited 

  NIS in millions 

         

Other income  133 (63) - 70 

Net income   252 (63) - 189 

Loss Attributable to Equity 

holders of the Company 

 

(17) - - (17) 

Net income Attributable to 

Non-controlling interests 

 

269 (63) - 206 

Basic loss per share 

attributable to equity 

holders of the Company 

 

(0.11) - - (0.11)

Diluted loss per share 

attributable to equity 

holders of the Company 

 

(0.11) - - (0.11)

 

In the statement of comprehensive income 

 

 
 For the Three months ended 

March 31, 2011 

 

 As 
previously 
reported 

 
Re-

statement 

 Measurement 
period 

adjustment 

 
After re-
statement 

  Unaudited 

  NIS in millions 

         
Total comprehensive income  533 (63) - 470 

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to equity 
holders of the Company 

   

179 - - 179 

Total comprehensive income  
attributable to Non-
controlling interests 

 

354 (63) - 291 
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD  

 

a. On January 4, 2011, EQY completed an agreement for the acquisition of C&C US No. 1 

Inc. ("CapCo") through a joint venture (the "Joint Venture") with Liberty International 

Holdings Limited ("LIH"), a subsidiary of Capital Shopping Centers Group PLC 

("CSC"). On the closing date, CapCo held 13 income-producing properties in California 

with a total area of 240 thousand square meters, comprised of shopping centers, offices, 

residential buildings and medical office buildings. On the closing date, LIH contributed 

all of CapCo's outstanding share capital to the Joint Venture in return for the allocation of 

11.4 million units in the Joint Venture ("Units"), granting LIH, a 22% interest in the Joint 

Venture, which can be converted by LIH into 11.4 million shares of EQY's common 

stock (subject to certain adjustments) or into cash, at EQY's sole discretion. Furthermore, 

a 78% interest in the Joint Venture, which consists of approximately 70% of the Class A 

Joint Venture shares and all of the Class B Joint Venture shares were allocated to EQY in 

exchange for the issuance of a US$ 600 million promissory note. Class B shares were 

allocated to EQY as a preferred return instrument. In addition, 4.1 shares of EQY's 

common stock were allocated to LIH in exchange for an assignment of a US$ 67 million 

CapCo's promissory note. Moreover, EQY allocated to LIH one class A share which was 

converted in June 2011 according to its terms, into 10,000 shares of EQY's common stock 

and which under certain limitations confer upon LIH voting rights in EQY, according to 

its holdings in the Joint Venture's Units. A mortgage-secured debt amounting to 

approximately US$ 243 million (net of U.S.$ 84.3 million which was repaid in cash by 

EQY), bearing annual weighted average interest of 5.7%, was assigned to the Joint 

Venture within the framework of the transaction. Upon the closing of the transaction, the 

Group's interest reached 38.8% in EQY's voting rights (including all of EQY shares held 

by GAA) and 39.3% economic rights in EQY's share capital (calculated net of non-

controlling interests in GAA). On the closing date, LIH held a 3.85% interest in EQY's 

share capital and 13.16% in EQY's voting rights.  

 

In addition, the Company (through its subsidiaries holding EQY shares; "Gazit") has 

entered into a shareholders' agreement with LIH and CSC (together - the "Liberty 

Group") and EQY, which came into effect for a 10 year period on the transaction closing 

date, which establishes among other things the following terms: (a) Gazit shall support 

the appointment of one director recommended by the Liberty Group (up to 45% of EQY's 

share capital held by Gazit), while the Liberty Group undertook to support the 

appointment of directors recommended by Gazit; (b) the Liberty Group granted Gazit a 

right of first offer in the event that EQY shares or the Joint Venture Units are sold, to the 

extent that this right is not exercised by EQY; (c) the Liberty Group was granted a tag-

along right in the event of a Group transaction that involves any change in control of 

EQY; and (d) the Liberty Group undertook to abstain from taking actions that may 

constitute an attempt to acquire control of EQY, and undertook not to purchase EQY 

securities above the agreed-upon threshold. 

 

The shareholders' agreement is in effect until the earlier of the following: 10 years 

starting from the engagement date; the date the Gazit's holdings decrease below 20% of 

the issued share capital of EQY; the date the Liberty Group's holdings in EQY decrease 

below 3%. 
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD (Cont.) 
 

Following the closing of the transaction, the Company will continue to consolidate EQY 

accounts, due to effective control over EQY. 

 

EQY executed a provisional allocation of the cost of the acquisition to the identifiable net 

assets of CapCo.  Presented below is the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 

of CapCo at the acquisition date, after being retroactively adjusted following the 

measurement period adjustment of the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities, 

as permitted pursuant to the provisions of IFRS 3:  

 

  

Provisional 

allocation 

 
Measurement 

period 

adjustment  

 

Fair value 

 NIS in millions 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 92 - 92 

Assets held for sale 465 - 465 

Other current assets 14 - 14 

Investment property and other  

non-current assets 1,770 21 1,791 

    

 2,341 21 2,362 

    

Current liabilities (302) (9) (311) 

Deferred taxes (2) (139) (2) (141) 

Other non-current liabilities (925) - (925) 

    

 (1,366) (11) (1,377) 

    

Net assets 975 10 985 

Goodwill (gain from bargain purchase) 

(3) (63) *)    85 22 

    

Total acquisition cost (1) 912 95 1,007 

 

*) Including restatement as a result of correction of an error, see Note 2d. 

 

 

(1) The total acquisition cost amounting to U.S.$ 279.8 million (NIS 1,007 million) is 

comprised of the issuance of 4.1 million shares of EQY's common stock valued at 

U.S.$ 73.7 million (NIS 265 million) (according to EQY's share price on the 

issuance date of U.S.$ 18.15) and the fair value of the 11.4 million Units presented 

as non-controlling interest in CapCo, which was estimated by reference to the 

amount LIH would be entitled to receive upon redeeming its Joint Venture Units 

for shares of EQY ("Units' fair value").  
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD (Cont.) 

 

The Units' fair value was first estimated at U.S.$ 15.83 per share, or U.S.$ 179.8 

million (NIS 647 million) in aggregate, representing a 12.8% discount on EQY's 

share price, mainly due to the restriction on transferability imposed on the Units 

and the probability that the Units would not be redeemed for EQY shares for at 

least five years due to tax obligations, which EQY erroneously believed needed to 

be taken into account in the valuation. 

 

After performing a reexamination of this matter and conducting consultations with 

its professional advisors, EQY came to the conclusion that the Units' fair value 

needed to be calculated without any component of "discount" on EQY's share 

price.  Hence, following the restatement of the interim financial statements, the 

Units' fair value has been estimated at EQY's closing share price on the date of 

closing the transaction, namely U.S.$ 18.15 per Unit, or U.S.$ 206.1 million 

(NIS 742 million) in aggregate.  Following the correction of the error made by 

EQY in the measurement of the Units issued to LIH, the Company has corrected its 

financial statements by means of a restatement (refer also to Note 2d).  

 

(2) The deferred tax liability solely represents the Company's effective share in the 

difference between the fair value and the tax base of CapCo's net identifiable 

assets, which was recorded only at the Company level, due to the fact that EQY 

and CapCo are REITs for tax purposes, and as such they do not provide for 

deferred taxes in their financial statements. 

 

(3) Prior to correcting the aforementioned error, the gain from bargain purchase, in the 

amount of NIS 63 million, was fully allocated to the non-controlling interests, since 

the portion allocable to the Company had been eliminated by the provision for 

deferred taxes as discussed in (2) above.  Following the correction of the error and 

the measurement period adjustment, goodwill in an amount of NIS 22 million has 

been recorded in the statement of financial position, which has been allocated in 

full to the equity holders of the Company, after creating the provision for deferred 

taxes discussed in (2) above and after setting off amount of NIS 66 million bargain 

purchase gain which had been allocated to the non-controlling interests.  

 

As a result of the decrease in the holding interest in EQY, the Group recognized a NIS 16 

million increase in equity, which was charged to the capital reserve from transactions 

with non-controlling interests. 

 

CapCo's revenues and loss attributable to EQY for the three months ended on March 31, 

2011 totaled U.S$ 12.3 million (NIS 44 million) and U.S$ 1.5 million (NIS 5 million), 

respectively. 
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD (Cont.) 

 

b. On March 10, 2011 companies owned by Mr. Uri Dori and Mr. David Katz, the partners 

of the Company in Acad (the "Partners") submitted an offer to the Company, to buy or 

sell 50% of Acad's share capital, according to the "Buy Me Buy You" ("BMBY") 

mechanism set out in Acad's shareholders agreement. On April 3, 2011 the Company 

notified the Partners that would purchase their 50% interest in Acad at the price indicated 

in their offer (NIS 82 million (the "transaction price") reflecting a total value of NIS 164 

million of Acad). On April 17, 2011 the transaction closed and commencing on that date 

Acad was fully consolidated in the financial statements of the Company.  

 

The acquisition was accounted for as a business combination achieved in stages under 

IFRS 3, with the previously owned 50% interest in Acad revalued after the reporting date 

to its fair value at the acquisition date according to the transaction price. As a result of 

such revaluation, the Company recognized a NIS 31 million loss (including the currency 

translation reserve realization amounted to NIS 12 million) charged to profit or loss. 

 

The Company engaged an external valuer after the reporting date to execute a provisional 

allocation of the purchase price to Acad's net identifiable assets at the acquisition date. 

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Acad at the acquisition date are 

as follows: 

 

  Fair value 

  

NIS in 

million 

  

Cash and cash equivalents  150 

Inventory of buildings and apartments for sale  819 

Other current assets  674 

Non-current assets  311 

  

 1,954 

  

Current liabilities  1,152 

Non-current liabilities  343 

Non-controlling interests  269 

  

 1,764 

  

Net assets acquired  190 

Gain from bargain purchase recognized in the second quarter of 2011  (26) 

  

Total acquisition cost  164 

 

On June 6, 2011, the Company completed  an agreement for the sale of 100% of Acad's 

share capital to Gazit Development, in which it holds a 75% interest in consideration for 

NIS 200 million, including NIS 20 million for the assignment of loans that were granted 

to Acad by the Company.  
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD (Cont.) 

 

c. On January 21, 2011 FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 150 million par 

value unsecured debentures (Series L), by way of a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear 

fixed annual interest of 5.48% paid semi-annually, and are payable in one principal 

payment in July 2019. 

 

 

d. On March 22, 2011 FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 110 million par 

value of unsecured debentures (Series M) through a shelf prospectus. The debentures bear 

fixed annual interest rate of 5.60% to be paid twice a year and mature in a single payment 

in April 2020. 

 

 

e. On March 28, 2011, the Company completed an agreement through a wholly-owned 

subsidiary, for the purchase of 2 million ordinary shares of EQY from Alony-Hetz 

Properties and Investments Ltd ("Alony-Hetz"), in consideration for US$ 36.5 million 

(NIS 125 million).  

 

 

f. On March 29, 2011 GAA announced that it has filed a prospectus in Canada for the 

issuance of up to 18.2 million rights ("the Rights"). The Rights will entitle GAA's 

shareholders to subscribe for units ("the Units") with each Unit consisting of one 

Common Share and one purchase warrant ("the Warrants"). One Right was issued for 

each Common Share held by the shareholders of GAA on April 12, 2011. A holder of 

Rights is entitled to subscribe on May 11, 2011, for one Unit for every two Rights held, at 

a price of C$ 6.30 per Unit. Each Warrant entitle the holder to purchase at any time up to 

November 30, 2016 (the "Expiry Date"), one Common Share at an exercise price of C$ 

7.50 up to April 14, 2014, and at each day thereafter at an exercise price of C$ 8.50, up to 

the Expiry Date subject to adjustments in certain events. 

 

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company ("the subsidiary") has agreed to exercise all 

of the Rights issued to it, and to purchase at the applicable Unit price, all Units that are 

not issued to other shareholders. 

 

On May 16, 2011 the rights issuance was completed and approximately 7.8 million Units 

were issued in consideration for C$ 48.9 million. The Subsidiary purchased in the 

issuance approximately 6.2 million Units (including approximately 0.8 million Units that 

were not subscribed for by other shareholders) in consideration for C$ 39.3 million (NIS 

141 million). As a result of the Rights offering, the Company's interest in GAA increased 

to 73.1% and the Company recognized in the second quarter of 2011 a capital increase 

amounting to C$ 0.4 million (NIS 1.4 million) charged to capital reserve with non-

controlling interests.     
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NOTE 3:- SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTED PERIOD (Cont.) 

 

g. On January 27, 2011, Dori Energy (a wholly-owned subsidiary of U. Dori), which owns 

18.75% of the share capital of Dorad Energy Ltd., completed a share issuance of 40% and 

of its share capital and granted a call option (with a fair value of NIS 0.4 million) to 

purchase additional 10% of its share capital, to Alumey Clean Energy Ltd., in 

consideration for NIS 50 million. As a result of the share issuance, and due to the drop of 

control in Dori Energy U. Dori has recognized a NIS 60 million gain, which is presented 

in the other income section (the Company's share - NIS 22 million). After the transaction, 

Dori Energy is proportionately consolidated in the financial statements of U. Dori. 

 

 

NOTE 4:- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE 
    

a. Further to the € 2 billion lawsuit filed in England, in August 2010, against Meinl Bank 

AG ("Meinl Bank") and related parties ("the English Lawsuit"), and further to the € 1.2 

billion lawsuit brought by Meinl Bank and another party against the Company, ATR, and 

other parties in the Royal Court of the Island of Jersey, in November 2010 ("the Jersey 

Lawsuit"), in March 2011, Meinl Bank filed a lawsuit against the Company and the 

Chairman of its Board, Mr. Chaim Katzman, in the District Court of Tel-Aviv-Jaffa. The 

lawsuit seeks declaratory relief, whereby the defendants will be ordered to compensate 

Meinl Bank for any sum or remedy awarded against it in the English Lawsuit.  The 

lawsuit also seeks a pecuniary remedy, which is estimated for court fees purposes at 

NIS 3 million, and this is with respect to Meinl Bank's expenses in defending the English 

Lawsuit.  

 

On June 19, 2011, the Company announced that a compromise agreement had been 

signed between all the parties involved in the lawsuits referred to above, including the 

Chairman of the Company's Board and the Company's former President, as well as other 

investors in ATR, in relation to all the existing disputes between the parties and to settle 

all the lawsuits still outstanding between them. The compromise agreement does not 

prescribe that any payment whatsoever is to be made by any particular party to any other 

party with respect to alleged losses.  The compromise agreement also prescribes that ATR 

and Meinl Bank are to take steps to terminate certain business relationships that exist 

between them, including replacing Meinl Bank as the trustee for ATR's debentures.  

 

On July 28, 2011, the prerequisites for the compromise agreement were met and the 

aforesaid agreement went into full effect.  From the same date, the parties are taking 

action to withdraw all the legal proceedings still outstanding between them.  

 

 

b. 1. On April 28, 2011 FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 57.5 million 

par value unsecured convertible debentures (series E) by way of a shelf prospectus. 

The debentures bear annual interest at the rate of 5.40%, payable in two semi-

annual payments commencing on September 30, 2011 and are convertible into 

FCR shares for C$ 22.62 per share on each day since their listing for trade and 

payable on January 31, 2019. According to the terms of the debentures, FCR is 

entitled to repay the debentures principal and interest in shares at its sole discretion, 

at 97% of a weighted average trading price of FCR Ordinary shares during the 20 

days prior to the repayment. 
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NOTE 4:- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (Cont.) 

 

2. On June 13, 2011 FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 65 million par 

value of unsecured debentures(series M), by a series expansion by way of a shelf 

prospectus. 

 

3. On August 9, 2011 FCR completed a public offering in Canada of C$ 57.5 million 

par value unsecured convertible debentures (series F) by way of a shelf prospectus. 

The debentures bear annual interest at the rate of 5.25%, payable in two semi-

annual payments commencing on September 30, 2011 and are convertible into 

FCR shares for C$ 23.77 per share on each day since their listing for trade and 

payable on January 31, 2019. According to the terms of the debentures, FCR is 

entitled to repay the debentures principal and interest in shares at its sole discretion, 

at 97% of a weighted average trading price of FCR Ordinary shares during the 20 

days prior to the repayment. 

 

 

c. On May 18, 2011 EQY announced a capital- raising through a public offering of 5 

million shares to the public in the U.S. at the price of U.S. $ 19.42 per share (total 

consideration of U.S $ 97.1 million). Simultaneously, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the 

Company purchased from EQY additional 1.0 million EQY shares in a private placement 

at the offering price (total consideration of U.S $ 19.4 million). 

 

In a separate transaction, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company will purchase from 

an entity controlled by Alony-Hetz an additional 1.0 million EQY shares, in total 

consideration of U.S$ 19.3 million. 

 

As a result of the offering and the purchase, the Group's voting rights decreased to 40.1% 

and its economic interest decreased to 41.2% (calculated net of non-controlling interests 

in GAA) and the Group recognized a capital decrease amounting to NIS 2 million 

charged to capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests.  

 

 During August and September 2011 the Company through wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

purchased approximately 1.8 million EQY shares during the trade on the NYSE for a total 

consideration of U.S.$ 30.8 million (NIS 114 million).  As a result of the purchases, the 

Group's voting rights increased to 41.8% and its economic interest increased to 43.1% 

and the Group recognized a capital decrease amounting to U.S.$ 6.8 million (NIS 25 

million) charged to capital reserve from transactions with non-controlling interests. 

 

 

d. On May 19, 2011 Moody's Midroog announced a rating increase for all of the Company's 

series of outstanding debentures from A1 to Aa3 and confirmed its stable outlook. 

 

On August 2, 2011 S&P Maalot confirmed an A+ rating for all of the Company's series of 

outstanding debentures, with upgrading its outlook forecast from stable to positive. 

 

 

e. On May 22, 2011, the Company declared a dividend in the amount of NIS 0.39 per share 

(a total of approximately NIS 60 million), paid on July 4, 2011. 



GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. 

 

NOTES TO INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

29 

 

 

NOTE 4:- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (Cont.) 

 

f. On November 20, 2011 the Company declared a dividend in the amount of NIS 0.39 per 

share (a total of approximately NIS 60 million), to be paid on December 28, 2011, to the 

shareholders of the Company on December 12, 2011. 

 

 

g. On July 14, 2011 CTY completed an offering of 33 million shares to Finnish and 

international investors in a price of EUR 3.02 per share with total consideration of EUR 

99.7 million (NIS 493 million) before issuance expenses. In the framework of the offering 

the Company purchased 14.9 million shares in the offering price in total consideration of 

45.0 EUR million (NIS 222 million).  

 

During August and September 2011 the Company purchased approximately 2.2 million 

CTY shares during the trade on the Helsinki stock exchange for a total consideration of 

NIS 28 million.  As a result of the offering and the purchases the Company's interest in 

CTY increased from 47.3% to 47.8% and the Company recognized a capital increase 

amounting to NIS 13 million, charged to capital reserve from transactions with non-

controlling interests. 

 

 

h. In July 2011, FCR announced a temporary reduction in the conversion price of its 

convertible debentures (series A and B) up to a principal amount of C$ 212.8 million, 

from C$ 16.425 per share to C$ 16.25 per share, for a 35 days period ended on August 

16, 2011 ("the Period"). During the Period C$ 84.7 million principal amount of 

convertible debentures (series A and B) were converted into 5.21 million FCR shares, 

including C$ 74.0 million principal amount of convertible debentures that were converted 

into 4.55 million FCR shares by a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. As a result 

of the conversion the Company's interest in FCR increased to 49.6%. 

 

 

i. During August and September 2011 the Company through wholly-owned subsidiaries, 

purchased approximately 4.6 million ATR shares during the trade on the Vienna stock 

exchange for total consideration of EUR 15.6 million (NIS 79 million).  As a result of the 

purchases the Company's interest in ATR increased from 30.0% to 31.2% and the 

Company recognized a gain from negative goodwill amounting to EUR 11.6 million (NIS 

58 million), presented in other income, which was measured as the difference between the 

fair value of ATR's net identifiable assets acquired and the consideration paid. 

 

 

j. In August 2011 the Company's Executive Chairman of the Board and the controlling 

shareholder, Mr. Chaim Katzman, and the Executive Vice Chairman of the Board, Mr. 

Dori Segal, notified the Company of irrevocable waiver amounting to NIS 7.1 million and 

NIS 2.9 million, respectively, of the bonus to which they are entitled to with respect to 

2011 to the extent that they would be entitled to a bonus according to the Company's 

results in 2011 in entirety. The Company recognized the respective amount of waiver that 

relates to the reporting period, net of tax impact (amounting to NIS 3.3 million), with 

respect to its controlling shareholder, directly in the other reserves section of equity.   
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NOTE 4:- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (Cont.) 

 

k.  On September 5, 2011 the Company completed by way of a shelf offering report, an 

initial public issuance of NIS 451 million par value debentures (series K) for a net 

consideration of NIS 446 million. The debentures (series K) are linked to the Israeli 

Consumer Price Index (principal and interest), bear fixed annual interest at the rate of 

5.35%, payable twice a year on March 31 and September 30 and are payable in five 

principal payments as follows: the first payment of 10% of the principal, payable on 

September 30, 2018, the second payment of 15% of the principal, payable on September 

30, 2020 and the third, fourth and fifth payments of 25% of the principal each, payable on 

September 30 of each of the years 2022-2024. 

 

 

l. On September 26, 2011 EQY announced that it had entered into an agreement to sell 36 

shopping centers that are predominately located in Atlanta, Tampa and Orlando markets, 

comprising 360 thousand square meters (3.9 million square feet), for U.S.$ 473.1 million 

(NIS 1.8 billion). These assets were encumbered by mortgage loans having an aggregate 

principal balance of U.S. $ 173 million (NIS 0.6 billion). The Company presents these 

assets and the attributable liabilities as "assets held for sale" and "liabilities attributable to 

assets held for sale". As a result of the transaction, EQY recognized an impairment loss 

on the group of assets and liabilities held for sale, in the amount of U.S.$ 8 million (NIS 

28 million). 

 

 

m. In early November 2011, a Memorandum of Law for Socioeconomic Change (Legislative 

Amendments) (Taxes), 2011 ("the Memorandum of Law"), was published. The 

Memorandum of Law proposes, among others, to cancel, effective from 2012, the 

scheduled progressive reduction in the corporate tax rate. The Memorandum of Law also 

proposes to raise the corporate tax rate to 25% in 2012. In view of the proposed increase 

in the corporate tax rate to 25% in 2012, the real capital gains tax rate and the real 

betterment tax rate will also be increased. 

 

The deferred tax balances included in the financial statements as of September 30, 2011, 

are measured using  the tax rates which were in effect as of the date of the financial 

statements and do not take into account the potential effects of the Memorandum of Law. 

Any such effects will be recognized in the financial statements to be published 

subsequent to the date the Law is substantively enacted. 

 

Based on the balances of deferred taxes as of September 30, 2011, the Company 

estimates that the effect on equity, net income and comprehensive income as a result of 

the issuance of the Memorandum of Law will be a decrease in the amount of 

approximately NIS 83 million, (NIS 73 million equity holders of the Company share). 

These amounts could increase or decrease based on the final approval of the 

Memorandum of Law by the Israeli Parliament. 
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NOTE 4:- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE (Cont.) 

 

n. On November 15, 2011, the employment agreement from February 2000, between the 

Company and Mr. Chaim Katzman, the Executive Chairman of the Company's Board of 

Directors and its controlling shareholder, expired.  The employment agreement was not 

renewed pursuant to the provisions enacted as part of the Companies Law (Amendment 

No. 16), 2011, relating to the approval – once every three years – of engagements 

between a public company and its controlling shareholder, with respect to the terms of his 

appointment and employment.  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, upon 

termination of the agreement, Mr. Katzman is entitled to a one-time payment equivalent 

to the annual compensation (including the annual bonus) that was due to him in 2010.  

However, Mr. Katzman has notified the Company that he is waiving his right to the 

aforesaid payment in full.  

 

Likewise, on November 15, 2011, the employment agreement from October 2004, 

between the Company and Mr. Dori Segal, the Executive Vice-Chairman of the 

Company's Board of Directors, also expired.  The agreement expired in the wake of a 

notice sent by the Company to Mr. Segal regarding non-renewal of the agreement with 

him.  Pursuant to the terms of the employment agreement, upon termination of the 

agreement, Mr. Segal is entitled to a one-time payment equivalent to the annual 

compensation (including the annual bonus) that was due to him in 2010.  However, Mr. 

Segal has notified the Company that he is waiving his right to the aforesaid payment in 

full.  

 

 It is hereby clarified that, despite the expiration of the agreements, Mr. Katzman and Mr. 

Segal are continuing to fulfill their duties as Executive Chairman of the Company's Board 

of Directors and Executive Vice-Chairman of the Company's Board of Directors, 

respectively.  The Company is currently drafting new employment and compensation 

arrangements with Messrs. Katzman and Segal, in light of the considerable importance 

that it ascribes to their continued employment with the Company 
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NOTE 5:- OPERATING SEGMENTS 

 

For comparative purposes, the information of the "Shopping centers in Canada" segment was 

retroactively adjusted, due to the first-time adoption of IFRS in Canada by FCR, commencing 

on January 1, 2011 (the impact is on the segment footnote only, as the Company's management 

had analyzed this segment in the past according to Canadian GAAP). 

 

  

Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.  

Shopping 
centers in 
Canada  

Shopping 
centers in 

North 
Europe 

 Shopping 
centers in 
central-
eastern 
Europe  

Initiation and 
performance 
of contract 

works  
Other 

segments  
Consolidation 
adjustments  Total 

  Unaudited 
  NIS in millions 
For the three months  
  Ended March 31, 2011       

  
        

                 
Segment revenues  309 473 256 89 177 138 3 1,445 

          
Segment results    *)   198 279 133 37 44 74 *)   29 794 

          
Finance expenses, net         (543) 
          
Income before taxes on 

income         251 

 

*) Restated, see Note 2d. 

 

  

Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.  

Shopping 
centers in 
Canada *)  

Shopping 
centers in 

North 
Europe  

Shopping 
centers in 
central-
eastern 
Europe  

Initiation and 
performance 
of contract 

works  
Other 

segments  

Consolidation 
adjustments 

*)   Total 
  Unaudited 
  NIS in millions 
                 
For the three months  
  Ended March 31, 2010       

  
        

                 
Segment revenues 262  416 256 84 156 120 - 1,294 

          
Segment results  89  246 152 40 1 62 (37) 553 

          
Finance expenses, net         (153) 

          
Income before taxes on 

income         400 

 
*)  Retroactively adjusted. 
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NOTE 5:- OPERATING SEGMENTS (Cont.) 

 

  

Shopping 
centers in 

U.S.  

Shopping 
centers in 
Canada *)  

Shopping 
centers in 

North 
Europe 

 Shopping 
centers in 
central-
eastern 
Europe  

Initiation and 
performance 
of contract 

works  
Other 

segments  

Consolidation 
adjustments 

*)  Total 
  NIS in millions 
                 
For the year Ended  
  December 31, 2010       

  
        

                 
Segment revenues  1,065  1,733 971 320 692 506 - 5,287 

           
Segment results    321  1,047 530 141 25 260 1,111 3,435 

           
Finance expenses, net          (1,318) 
           
Income before taxes on  
  income          2,117 

 
*)  Retroactively adjusted. 

 

Segment assets 

 

  

Shopping 
centers in 
U.S. ***)  

Shopping 
centers in 
Canada  

Shopping 
centers in 

North 
Europe 

 Shopping 
centers in 
central-
eastern 
Europe  

Initiation and 
performance 
of contract 

works  
Other 

segments  
Consolidation 
adjustments  Total 

  Unaudited 
  NIS in millions 
                 
March 31, 2011   **) 10,686  18,153 11,943 3,573 776 6,486 **)    5,066 56,673 

           
March 31, 2010  8,607  *)   15,776 11,103 3,452 639 5,685 *)     4,915 50,177 

           
December 31,  
  2010 (audited)  8,142  *)   17,277 11,337 3,425 693 6,153 *)     5,523 52,550 

 

*) Retroactively adjusted. 

 

**)  Restated, see Note 2d. 

 

***) The increase in segment assets in "Shopping centers in U.S" is due mainly to the 

acquisition of CapCo, refer to Note 3a. 

 

 

NOTE 6:- ATTACHMENT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF ASSOCIATE 

 

The financial statements of Dorad Energy Ltd. (the "Associate") were not attached to these 

financial statements, and no condensed disclosure regarding the investment in the Associate was 

included, due to insignificancy with respect to the consolidated financial statements of the 

Company. 
 

 - -  -  -  -  - -  - -  -  -  -  
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Special review report of the separate interim financial information in accordance with Regulation 38d of the 

Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970  

 

 

Introduction 
 
We have reviewed the separate interim financial information presented pursuant to Regulation 38d of the Securities 
Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970 of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Company") as of March 31, 2011 
and for the three months then ended.  The Company's Board of Directors and management are responsible for the 
separate interim financial information.  We are responsible for expressing our conclusion with regard to the 
separate interim financial information for this interim period, based on our review.  
 
 
We did not review the separate interim financial information of the financial statements of investees, whose assets 
net of liabilities attributable thereto, net amounted to NIS 6,473 million as of March 31, 2011, and from which 
earnings amounted to NIS 103 million in the three months then ended.  The financial statements of those 
companies were reviewed by other auditors, whose reports have been furnished to us, and our conclusion, insofar 
as it relates to the financial statements with respect to those companies, is based on the review reports of the other 
auditors.  
 
 
Scope of review 
 

We conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard 1 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in 

Israel, "Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity."  A review of 

interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and 

accounting matters, and applying analytical and other review procedures.  A review is substantially less in scope 

than an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in Israel and consequently does 

not enable us to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might be identified in 

an audit.  Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.  

 

 

Conclusion 
 

Based on our review and the review of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe 

that the above interim financial information is not prepared in all material respects in accordance with the provision 

of regulation 38d to the Securities Regulations (preparation of periodic and immediate reports) - 1970.  

 

This special report is based on the separate special report on the review of the interim financial information for said 

periods, which was rendered on May 22, 2011.  

 

 
Tel-Aviv, Israel KOST FORER GABBAY & KASIERER 
December 4, 2011 A Member of Ernst & Young Global 
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GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. 

 

Financial data and financial information from the consolidated interim financial statements  

attributable to the Company 

 

 

 

Below is separate financial data and financial information from the Group's consolidated interim financial 

statements as of March 31, 2011, published as part of the interim reports ("consolidated financial statements") 

attributable to the Company, presented in accordance with Regulation 38d of the Securities Regulations (Periodic 

and Immediate Reports), 1970.  

 

Significant accounting policies applied for presentation of these financial data were set forth in Note 2 to the annual 

consolidated financial statements. 

 

Investees - as defined in Note 1 to the annual consolidated financial statements. 

 

 



GAZIT-GLOBE LTD. 

�      �  4

 
Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of financial position attributed to the 

Company    

 

 

 

  March 31,  December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

 
ASSETS     

  

       
 
Current assets     

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  99   72   35  
Short-term deposits  -   -   

(
*

)
 -  

Short-term loans and current maturities of long-term loans to investees  152   79   164  
Financial derivatives  105   65   110  
Other accounts receivable  103   97   11  
Loan to a partne  -   -   5  

       
Total current assets  459   313   325  

       
 
 
Non-current assets       

Long-term loans and deposits  4   9   4  
Financial derivatives  923   803   1,031  
Loans to investees  6,795   6,719   6,962  
Debentures of investees  224   239   213  
Investments in investees  7,916   7,054   7,647  
Fixed assets  5   4   5  
Intangible assets  

(
*

)
 -   

(
*

)
 -   

(
*

)
 -  

       
Total non-current assets  15,867   14,828   15,862  

       
Total assets  16,326   15,141   16,187  

 

 

 
(
*

)
 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  
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Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of financial position attributed to the 

Company    

 

 
  March 31,  December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

       
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY       

       
 
Current liabilities       

Current maturities of debentures   486   55   485  
Financial derivatives  9   15   17  
Trade payables  5   1   2  
Other accounts payable  96   87   128  
Current tax payable  1   4   3  
Dividend payable  60   51   57  

       
Total current liabilities  657   213   692  

       
 
Long-term liabilities       

Loans from banks  1,496   1,936   1,476  
Debentures  8,021   7,803   7,975  
Financial derivatives  -   7   -  
Employee benefit liabilities  -   2   -  
Deferred taxes  109   77   129  

       
Total long-term liabilities  9,626   9,825   9,580  

       
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company       

Share capital  208   192   208  
Share premium  3,481   2,852   3,474  
Reserves  (917)  )860(   (1,115) 
Retained earnings  3,271   2,919   3,348  

       
Total equity  6,043   5,103   5,915  

       
Total liabilities and equity  16,326   15,141   16,187  

 

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  

 

 

 
December 4, 2011       

Date of approval of the  Chaim Katzman  Aharon Soffer  Gadi Cunia 

financial statements 

 

Chairman of the Board 

 

President 

 

Executive Vice 

President and 

CFO 
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Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of income attributed to the Company    

 

 

    
Three months ended 

March 31  
 Year ended 
December 31, 

    2011  2010  2010 

    Unaudited  Audited 

    NIS in millions 

         
         
Revenues from management fees from investees    6   1   8  
Financial income from investees    76   64   306  
Other financial income    21   171   475  

         
Total revenues    103   236   789  

         
General and administrative expenses    17   8   55  
Finance expenses    283   58   576  

         
Total expenses    300   66   631  

         
Income (loss) before income from investees, net    (197)  170   158  
         
Income from investees, net    160   80   720  

         
Income (loss) before taxes on income    (37)  250   878  
Taxes on income    (20)  32   88  

         
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company    (17)  218   790  

 
 

 

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  
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Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of comprehensive income attributed to the 

Company    

 

 

    
Three months ended 

March 31  
 Year ended 
December 31, 

    2011  2010  2010 

    Unaudited  Audited 

    NIS in millions 

       
       
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company  (17)  218   790  

       
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company (net 

of tax effect):       
       
Exchange differences on foreign currency translation  (41)  )20(   (142) 
Gain (loss) on cash flow hedges  3   )1(   11  

       

Other comprehensive loss attributable to the Company  
 

(38)  )21(   (131) 
       
Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to investees (net of 

tax effect)  234   )278(   (520) 

       
Total other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the 

Company  196   )299(   (651) 

       
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to the Company  179   )81(   139  

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  
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Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of cash flows attributed to the Company    

 

 

  
Three months ended 

March 31  
 Year ended 
December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

       
Cash flows from operating activities of the Company       
       
Net income (loss) attributable to the Company  (17)  218   790  

       
Adjustments required to present cash flows used in operating 

activities of the Company:       
       
Adjustments to profit and loss items of the Company:       
       
Depreciation   

(
*

) -
   

(
*

) -
   1  

Finance expenses (income), net  186   )177(   (205) 
Income from investees, net  (160)  )80(   (720) 
Cost of share-based payment  2   3   13  
Taxes on income  (20)  32   88  
Change in employee benefit liabilities  -   -   (2) 

       
  8   )222(   (825) 

Changes in asset and liability items of the Company:       
       
Decrease (increase) in other accounts receivable  (16)  1   34  
Increase (decrease) in trade payables and other accounts payable  (7)  )9(   26  

       
  (23)  )8(   60  

       
Cash paid and received during the period by the Company for:       
       
Interest paid  (117)  )164(   (517) 
Interest received  

(
*

)
 -   24   67  

Interest received from investees  44   46   313  
Taxes paid  (1)  )1(   (4) 
Dividend received from investees  -   -   89  

       
  (74)  )95(   (52) 

       
Net cash used in operating activities of the Company  (106)  )107(   (27) 

 

 
(
*

)
 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million. 

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  
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Details of financial information out of consolidated statements of cash flows attributed to the Company 

 

 

  
Three months ended 

March 31  
Year ended 

December 31, 

  2011  2010  2010 

  Unaudited  Audited 

  NIS in millions 

       
Cash flows from investing activities of the Company       
       
Acquisition of fixed assets  (1)  -   (2) 
Investments in investees  -   -   (257) 
Redemption of preferred shares of investee  -   -   165  
Loans repaid by (granted to) investees, net  313   104   (434) 
Long-term loans repaid   4   -   - 

       
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities of the Company   316   104   (528) 

       
Cash flows from financing activities of the Company       
       
Issuance of shares (less issuance expenses)  -   -   637  
Exercise of stock options into shares  2   1   1  
Repayment of loans for purchase of Company shares  -   

(
*

) -
   

(
*

) -
 

Dividend paid to equity holders of the Company   (60)  )50(   (204) 
Issuance of debentures, less issuance expenses  -   190   687  
Repayment and early redemption of debentures  (12)  )150(   (197) 
Drawdown of long-term credit facilities from banks, net  (64)  )272(   (690) 

       
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities of the Company   (134)  )281(   234  

       
Exchange differences on balances of cash and cash equivalents  (12)  -   -  

       
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   64   )284(   (321) 
       
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period   35   356   356  

       
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period  99   72   35  

       
       
Material non-cash transactions of the Company:       
       
Dividend payable  60   51   57  

 

 
(
*

)
 Represents an amount lower than NIS 1 million.  

 

 

The accompanying additional information constitutes an integral part of the separate financial data and 

financial information.  
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Additional information  

 

 

 
a. General 
 
 This separate financial information is prepared in a condensed format in accordance with the provisions of 

Regulation 38d of the Israeli Securities Regulations (Periodic and Immediate Reports), 1970.  This separate 
financial information should be read in conjunction with the financial information in the annual financial 
statements as of December 31, 2010 and for the year then ended, with the accompanying notes thereto, as 
well as in conjunction with the interim consolidated financial statements as of March 31, 2011. 

 
           For a restatement, see Note 2d to the interim consolidated financial statements. 

  

b. As of March 31, 2011, the Company has a working capital deficiency of NIS 198 million.  The Company 
has approved unutilized credit facilities amounting to NIS 1.1 billion that can be used in the coming year.  In 
line with its policy, the Company customarily finances its activities by means of revolving credit facilities as 
interim financing, and raises capital and long-term debt from time to time, in accordance with the state of the 
market, in place of the aforementioned revolving credit facilities.  Furthermore, subsequent to the reporting 
date, the Company engaged in a USD 250 million (approximately NIS 670 million) five-year credit facility 
agreement with an Israeli bank, which is expected to be closed upon providing with customary collaterals 
documentation, in place of a USD 90 million credit facility.  Company management estimates that these 
sources will allow the Company to meet its short-term liabilities.  

 
c. Material investments and transactions with investees 

 
 In the first quarter of 2011, CTY declared a dividend amounting to EUR 34.2 million.  The Company's share 

of this dividend, paid in April 2011, amounts to NIS 80.2 million. 
 
d. Credit rating 
 
 On May 19, 2011 Moody's Midroog announced a rating increase for all of the Company's series of 

outstanding debentures from A1 to Aa3 and confirmed its stable outlook.  
 
            On August 2, 2011 S&P Maalot confirmed A+ rating to all of the Company's series of outstanding debentures, with         
            upgrading its outlook forecast from stable to positive.   

     
             On September 5, 2011 the company completed an initial issuance of NIS 451 million par value of debentures    

            (series k) in net consideration of NIS 446 million, refer to Note 3.n to the interim consolidated financial statements.   
 
e. Lawsuits 
 
 For details regarding developments relating to the claims and counter-claims filed in connection with the 

investment in ATR and the settlement agreement that was signed by all the parties to the claims, and became 

effective, refer to note 4.a of the consolidated interim financial statements as of March 31, 2011. 
  
f. Subsequent events 
 
 As for the issuance of the Memorandum of Law for Socioeconomic Change (Legislative Amendments)    
          (Taxes), 2011, and its expected impact on the financial statements, see Note 4b to the interim consolidated   
         financial statements. 
 
f. Dividend 
 
 On May 22, 2010, the Company declared a dividend of NIS 0.39 per share (and in a total amount of 

approximately NIS 60 million) paid on July 4, 2011.   
 
            On November 20, 2011, the Company declared a dividend in the amount of NIS 0.39 per share (a total of 

approximately NIS 60 million), to be paid on December 28, 2011, to the shareholders of the Company on December 12, 

2011. 
 

-  - - -  - - - -  - - -  - - -  - - - -  - 



Quarterly Report regarding Effectiveness of the Internal Control over the Financial Reporting and the 

Disclosure in Accordance with Regulation 38C(a)  

The management, under the supervision of the Board of Directors of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Corporation"), is 

responsible for determining and maintaining proper internal control over the Corporation's financial reporting and 

disclosure.  

Regarding this matter, the members of management are:  

1. Aharon Soffer, President;  

2. Gadi Cunia, Senior Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer;  

3. Eran Ballan, Senior Executive Vice-President and General Counsel;  

4. Varda Zuntz, Company Secretary;  

5. Rami Vaisenberger, Vice President and Controller.  

Internal control over the financial reporting and disclosure includes the Corporation's existing controls and 

procedures, which were planned by the President and the most senior officer in the finance area or under their 

supervision, or by a party actually executing the said functions, under the supervision of the Corporation's Board 

of Directors, which were intended to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of the financial 

reporting and preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the law, and to ensure 

that information the Corporation is required to disclose in the statements it publishes under the provisions of the 

law was gathered, processed, summarized and reported on the date and in the format prescribed by the law.  

The internal control includes, among other things, controls and procedures that were planned to ensure that 

information the Corporation is required to disclose, as stated, was accumulated and transferred to Corporation 

management, including to the President and to the most senior officer in the finance area or to a party actually 

executing the said functions, in order to enable decisions to be made at the appropriate time, with respect to the 

disclosure requirement.  

Due to its inherent limitations, the internal control over the financial reporting and disclosure is not intended to 

provide complete assurance that a misrepresentation or omission of information in the statements will be avoided 

or discovered.  

In the Annual Report regarding Effectiveness of the Internal Control over the Financial Reporting and the 

Disclosure, which was attached to the Periodic Report for the period ended December 31, 2010 (“the Last 

Annual Report regarding Internal Control”), the Board of Directors and the management evaluated the 

Corporation’s internal control.  Based on this evaluation, the Corporation's Board of Directors and management 

reached the conclusion that the aforesaid internal control, as of December 31, 2010, is effective.  

Through the date of the report, an event or matter had been brought to the attention of the Board of Directors and 

management that is likely to change the evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control, as found in the Last 

Quarterly Report regarding Internal Control, as described below:  

The financial statements as of June 30, 2011 and for the six-month period ended on that date and as of March 31, 

2011 and for the three-month period ended on that date have been restated as a result of correcting an error in the 

financial statements of a subsidiary – Equity One, Inc. (“EQY”), in the context of a reduction in the gain from 

bargain purchase against an increase in non-controlling interests.  The error arose due to a mistake in the 

calculation of the fair value of the Units in the Joint Venture allocated to Liberty International Holdings Limited 

(“LIH”) (refer to Note 3.a of the financial statements).  For details regarding the quantitative effect on the 

financial statements, refer to note 2.d of the financial statements and to the Immediate Report issued on 

November 3, 2011 (reference no. 2011-01-315402, and the information contained therein is hereby presented by 

means of this reference), within the framework of which the Company first made a disclosure regarding this 

matter. 



 

 

- 2 - 

 

 

EQY’s management has classified the aforesaid deficiency for itself as a material weakness and has acted to 

remediate it in the following ways:  

• Enhancing the level of understanding with respect to accounting standards dealing with fair value (fair value 

measurement and disclosures), including in relation to implementing the guidance on the valuation of 

securities.  The level of understanding will be enhanced by the relevant members of management , inter alia, 

through self-study methods;  

• Intensifying the level of control and validation performed both over management work and also over external 

advisors, in order to ensure the proper implementation of the accounting standards dealing with fair value; and  

• Deploying the required procedure, holding a formal discussion and drawing conclusions by the relevant 

members of management, regarding the possible use of two external advisors when making a complex, out-of 

the-ordinary, material valuation , which requires the establishment of fair value recognition and reporting.  

On November 9, 2011, EQY reported that the remediation measures had been completed.  

In light of the aforesaid, the Company has reexamined the components within the overall internal control over the 

financial reporting that relate to the error resulting in the restatement; following the reexamination, management 

and the Board of Directors have concluded that, as of March 31, June 30 and September 30, 2011, there was a 

significant deficiency in the control intended to test the reasonableness of the calculation of the fair value of the 

Units in the Joint Venture allocated to LIH.  

As of the date of the report, based on the contents of the Last Quarterly Report regarding Internal Control and 

based on information brought to the attention of management and the Board of Directors, as referred to above, the 

internal control is effective.  
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Officers’ Declarations 

A) Declaration of the President in accordance with Regulation 38C(d)(l): 

 

Officers’ Declaration 

Declaration of the President 

I, Aharon Soffer, declare that: 

(1) I have examined the quarterly report of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Corporation") for the first quarter of 2011 

("the Statements");  

(2) As far as I am aware, the Statements do not include any misrepresentation of a material fact and no 

representation of a material fact that is required has been omitted, so that the representations included 

therein, in light of the circumstances in which such representations were included, will not be misleading 

with reference to the period covered by the Statements;  

(3) As far as I am aware, the financial statements and other financial information included in the Statements 

properly reflect, in all material respects, the Corporation's financial position, results of operations and cash 

flows as at the dates and for the periods to which the Statements relate;  

(4) I have disclosed to the Corporation's auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit and Balance Sheet 

Committee of the Board of Directors, based on my most up-to-date evaluation with respect to the internal 

control over the Corporation's financial reporting and disclosure:  

(A) All the significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of the 

internal control over the financial reporting and disclosure, which could reasonably have an adverse 

impact on the Corporation's ability to gather, process, summarize or report financial information in 

such a manner that could cause doubt with respect to the reliability of the financial reporting and 

preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the provisions of the law; and - 

(B) Every fraud, whether or not significant, wherein the President is involved or a party under his direct 

supervision or other employees are involved that have a significant function in the internal control 

over the financial reporting and disclosure;  

(5) I, alone or together with others in the Corporation:  

(A) Have determined controls and procedures, or have verified the determination and existence under my 

supervision of controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that significant information 

relating to the Corporation, including subsidiaries as defined in the Securities Regulations 

(Preparation of Annual Financial Statements), 2010, is brought to my attention by others in the 

Corporation and the subsidiaries, particularly during the period of preparation of the Statements; and 

 - 

(B) Have determined controls and procedures, or have verified the determination and existence under my 

supervision of controls and procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability of the financial reporting and preparation of the financial statements in 

accordance with the provisions of the law, including in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles;  

(C) No event or matter has been brought to my attention that occurred during the period between the date 

of the last periodic report and the date of this report, which would be enough to change the 

conclusion of the Board of Directors and the management with regard to the effectiveness of the 

internal control over the financial reporting and the disclosure of the Corporation.  

Nothing in that stated above detracts from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person under any 

law. 

December 4, 2011  ________________________________ 

  Aharon Soffer, President 
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B) Declaration of the most senior officer in the finance area in accordance with Regulation 38C(d)(2): 

Officers’ Declaration 

Declaration of the most senior officer in the finance area 

I, Gadi Cunia, declare that: 

(1) I have examined the interim financial statements and the other financial information included in the 
statements for the interim period of Gazit-Globe Ltd. ("the Corporation") for the first quarter of 2011 
("the Statements" or “the Statements for the Interim Period”);  

(2) As far as I am aware, the interim financial statements and the other financial information included in the 
Statements for the Interim Period do not include any misrepresentation of a material fact and no 
representation of a material fact that is required has been omitted, so that the representations included 
therein, in light of the circumstances in which such representations were included, will not be misleading 
with reference to the period covered by the Statements;  

(3) As far as I am aware, interim financial statements and the other financial information included in the 
Statements for the Interim Period properly reflect, in all material respects, the Corporation's financial 
position, results of operations and cash flows as at the dates and for the periods to which the Statements 
relate;  

(4) I have disclosed to the Corporation's auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit and Balance Sheet 
Committee of the Board of Directors, based on my most up-to-date evaluation with respect to the internal 
control over the Corporation's financial reporting and disclosure:  

(A) All the significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of the 
internal control over the financial reporting and disclosure to the extent it relates to the interim 
financial statements and the other financial information included in the Statements for the Interim 
Period, which could reasonably have an adverse impact on the Corporation's ability to gather, 
process, summarize or report financial information in such a manner that could cause doubt with 
respect to the reliability of the financial reporting and preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the law; and  - 

(B) Every fraud, whether or not significant, wherein the President is involved or a party under his direct 
supervision or other employees are involved that have a significant function in the internal control 
over the financial reporting and disclosure;  

(5) I, alone or together with others in the Corporation:  

(A) Have determined controls and procedures, or have verified the determination and existence under our 
supervision of controls and procedures, which are designed to ensure that significant information 
relating to the Corporation, including subsidiaries as defined in the Securities Regulations 
(Preparation of Annual Financial Statements), 2010, is brought to my attention by others in the 
Corporation and the subsidiaries, particularly during the period of preparation of the Statements; and 
 - 

(B) Have determined controls and procedures, or have verified the determination and existence under my 
supervision of controls and procedures, which are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of the financial reporting and preparation of the financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the law, including in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles;  

(C) No event or matter has been brought to my attention that occurred during the period between the date 
of the last periodic report and the date of this report, which relates to the interim financial statements 
and any other financial information included in the Statements for the Interim Period, which would 
be enough, in my opinion,  to change the conclusion of the Board of Directors and the management 
with regard to the effectiveness of the internal control over the financial reporting and the disclosure 
of the Corporation.  

Nothing in that stated above detracts from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person under any 
law. 

December 4, 2011  ________________________________ 
  Gadi Cunia, Executive Vice President and CFO 
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